Western University Scholarship@Western

**Digitized Theses** 

**Digitized Special Collections** 

2010

# Modulation of Mcm2-7 activity by Cdtl suggests novel roles for Cdtl in the control of DNA replication

Tomasz Kolaczyk Western University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

### **Recommended Citation**

Kolaczyk, Tomasz, "Modulation of Mcm2-7 activity by Cdtl suggests novel roles for Cdtl in the control of DNA replication" (2010). *Digitized Theses*. 4120. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4120

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### Modulation of Mcm2-7 activity by Cdt1 suggests novel roles for Cdt1 in the control of DNA replication

(Spine title: Modulation of Mcm2-7 activity by Cdt1)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

By

Tomasz Kolaczyk

### Graduate program in Biochemistry

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

# THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

### **CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION**

Supervisor	<u>Examiners</u>
Dr. Megan J. Davey	Dr. Eric H. Ball
Supervisory Committee	Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter

Dr. Christopher J. Brandl

Dr. David B. Haniford

\_\_\_\_\_

Dr. Kathleen Hill

The thesis by

### Tomasz <u>Kolaczyk</u>

entitled:

### Modulation of Mcm2-7 activity by Cdt1 suggests novel roles for Cdt1 in the control of DNA replication

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Date\_\_\_

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

### Abstract

Genome duplication occurs once and only once during each cell cycle. It is a highly ordered process and is separated into the formation of different multi-protein complexes. The pre-replicative complex (preRC) is formed during G1-phase and is composed of ORC, Cdc6, Cdt1 and Mcm2-7. Mcm2-7 is the replicative helicase in eukaryotic cells and is assembled on replication origins prior to S-phase. Cdt1 is an essential component of the preRC. Cdt1 has been shown to interact with Mcm2-7, however neither the requirements nor the effects of this interaction have explored. In this study, I show that Cdt1 forms a complex with Mcm2-7 without the need for other factors. Furthermore, Cdt1 modulates the helicase, ATPase and DNA binding activity of the Mcm2-7 complex. I propose a model where Cdt1 modulates Mcm2-7 helicase activity by inhibiting ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7, thus preventing premature DNA unwinding. Furthermore, the increase in dsDNA binding affinity for the Mcm2-7/Cdt1 complex (Mcm2-7•Cdt1) assists in its loading onto replication origins during preRC assembly. These results indicate a novel role for Cdt1 in Mcm2-7 modulation and DNA replication control.

**Key words:** DNA replication, Mcm2-7, helicase, Cdt1, ORC, Cdc6, preRC, Mcm2-7•Cdt1

### Acknowledgements

Throughout the course of my degree, there have been many people who have helped me along the way. There is no way I could ever repay them, but I would like this opportunity to thank them.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Megan Davey, for sharing your experiences and wisdom and always keeping me optimistic even when my frustrations blinded me. You have helped me become a better student and a better scientist. I would also like to thank my committee, Dave Haniford and Chris Brandl, for keeping me on the right path, especially when I wasn't exactly sure which path that was. Thank you Eric Ball for giving me the opportunity to work in your lab and giving me my first taste of research. I also want to thank Graeme Taylor, who helped me land my first job.

I am indebted to all the members of the Davey lab, past and present, especially Lance DaSillva, Tina Sing, Brent Stead, Rachael Ma and Simon Lam. Special thanks to Lance and Ewan Gibb for our many interesting and stimulating conversations over morning coffee.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my family and friends, without your love and support I would not be where I am today. To my parents, Halina Kolaczyk and Cor Spruyt who stood by me no matter what decisions I made and have always been there for me. To my grandparents, Tadeusz and Wieslawa Kopytek, for imparting me with a sense of honour, loyalty and showing me the power of hope. Finally, to my girlfriend, Tran Thi Diep Anh, though you may not always know what I'm talking about, you are always been there by my side to support me.

iv

# **Table of Contents**

Certificate of Examination	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures	ix
List of Appendices	xi
Abbreviations	xii

# Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 DNA replication in context of the cell cycle	1
1.2 DNA Replication	4
1.3 Origins of replication	4
1.4 Pre-replicative complex	6
1.5 Origin Recognition Complex (ORC)	9
1.6 Cell Division Cycle 6 (Cdc6)	11
1.7 Mcm2-7	12
1.8 Cdt1	16
1.9 Preventing Re-replication	18

1.10 Thesis Overview	24
Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods	26
2.1 Purification of Mcms	26
2.2 Cdt1 purification	26
2.3 Reconstitution of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7 • Cdt1	27
2.4 DNA binding assays	28
2.5 Cdt1 polyclonal antibody	28
2.6 Co-immunoprecipitation	28
2.7 DNA unwinding assay	30
2.8 ATP Hydrolysis	30
2.9 ORC purification	31
2.10 Electrophoresis Gel Mobility Shift Assays	32
Chapter 3 – Results	

- 3 - - -

3.1 Interaction of the Cdt1 with Mcm2-7	33
3.2 Co-immunoprecipitation of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1	35
3.3 Cdt1 inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7	37
3.4 Cdt1 inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7	42
3.5 DNA binding activity of Mcm2-7	44

# **Chapter 4 – Discussion**

4.1 Spontaneous assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex	48
4.2 Cdt1 prevents premature DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7	50
4.3 Cdt1 inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7	52
4.4 DNA binding by Mcm2-7•Cdt1	53
4.5 Model and Conclusions	54
References	56
Appendix	
A1 - Purification and assessment of ORC	76
A1.1 Purification of the origin recognition complex	76
A1.2 ORC DNA binding activity	79
A1.3 References	81
A2 - Cdt1 purification and antibody characterization	82
A2.1 Cdt1 purification	82

A2.2 Characterization of Odt1 antihody	91
A2.2 Characterization of Cdt1 antibody	84

### Curriculum Vitae

# **List of Figures**

# **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

Figure 1.1: Representation of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell cycle	3
Figure 1.2: Schematic representation of the pre-replicative complex	8
Figure 1.3: DNA unwinding models for Mcm2-7	15
Figure 1.4: Differing strategies for preventing re-replication	20

# Chapter 3 – Results

<b>Figure 3.1:</b> Mcm2-7, Cdt1 and a complex containing both were analyzed by gel filtration	34
Figure 3.2: Co-immunoprecipitation of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1	36
Figure 3.3: ATP hydrolysis activity of Cdt1	38
Figure 3.4: ATP hydrolysis analysis of the Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes across all fractions from the Superose 6 column	39
Figure 3.5: ATP hydrolysis of Mcm2-7 vs. Mcm2-7•Cdt1	41
Figure 3.6: Effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7 DNA unwinding	43
Figure 3.7: ssDNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes	45
Figure 3.8: dsDNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes	47

## **Chapter 4 – Discussion**

Figure 4.1: Proposed model for Mcm2-7•Cdt1	49
--	----

# Appendix

Figure A.1: Purification of the origin recognition complex	78
Figure A.2: Electrophoresis mobility shift assays with ORC and origin DNA substrate	80
Figure A.3: Cdt1 purification	83
Figure A.4: Characterization of Cdt1 antibody	85

# List of Appendices

Appendix

- A1 Purification and assessment of ORC
- A2-Cdt1 purification and antibody characterization

### Abbreviations

- ORC Origin recognition complex
- Mcm Minichromosome maintenance
- ARS Autonomously replicating sequence
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- ssDNA single stranded DNA
- dsDNA double stranded DNA
- ACS ARS consensus sequence
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- ADP adenosine diphosphate
- CDK cyclin dependent kinase
- preRC pre-replicative complex
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- PAGE polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SV-40 Simian virus 40
- preIC pre-initiation complex

### **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

#### **1.1 DNA replication in context of the cell cycle**

The cell cycle is a series of events that culminate in the production of two cells containing identical genomes (Figure 1.1; Howard and Pelc 1951). The cycle beings with Gap 1-phase (G1-phase) at which time the cell prepares for DNA synthesis (S-phase) followed by cell division (M-phase; Howard and Pelc 1951; Smith and Martin 1973). It is during G1-phase, and the preceding M-phase, where many of the earliest events required for DNA replication occur (Diffley et al. 1995).

During G1-phase, the pre-replicative complex (preRC) assembles on replication origins (Diffley et al. 1995). The preRC complex loads replicative helicases onto origins. Replicative helicases are the proteins responsible for the unwinding of double stranded DNA (dsDNA) at replication forks throughout S-phase (Oakley 1980). Once the assembly of the preRC is complete, the cell is ready to progress into S-phase (Howard and Pelc 1951; Smith and Martin 1973). The origins that were prepared for replication in G1 must now transition from inactive to active forms, a process termed origin firing (Lei and Tye 2001; Araki et al. 2010). It is the firing that defines the beginning of S-phase (Lei and Tye 2001). Firing of origins is a process that involves the recruitment of multiple proteins that assemble at replication origins to form the replicative complex (MacNeill 2010). Post-translational modifications of some of the components of the replicative complex are also required for the start of DNA synthesis (Araki 2010).

The assembly of the preRC can only occur during G1-phase when the levels of two regulatory kinases, cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) and DumbBell forming 4 (Dbf4) dependent kinase (DDK) are low (Piatti et al. 1996; Lei and Tye 2001). CDK and DDK phosphorylate replication proteins to promote the assembly of factors required for helicase activation and DNA synthesis (Piatti et al. 1996; Devault et al. 2008; Tanaka et al. 2007; Muramatsu et al. 2010; Sheu and Stillman 2010). CDK also prevents reassembly of preRCs by signaling the degradation and/or nuclear export of preRC components (Nguyen et al. 2000). These mechanisms control the timing of DNA replication.

Once DNA synthesis has been completed, the cells enter G2 phase. During G2, the cell continues to grow and prepare for mitosis that will result in two daughter cells. In G2, the DNA content of the cell is double that of G1 phase cells (Reviewed in Norbury and Nurse 1990).

Upon completion of G2, the cell enters mitosis or M-phase (Reviewed in Bucher and Britten 2008) whereby the genome is separated into two complete sets at which point the cell divides, resulting in two genetically identical daughter cells. In many cases, the cell cycle begins again where the M-phase gives way to a new G1-phase.



**Figure 1.1: Representation of the** *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cell cycle. The cell cycle is divided into distinct phases, G1, S, G2 and M. DNA replication occurs during the S-phase. The yeast initiator protein, the origin recognition complex (ORC), binds origins throughout the cell cycle. The assembly of the preRC occurs primarily throughout G1. DNA unwinding and synthesis starts in S-phase and is completed before the start of G2. (Adapted from http://mpf.biol.vt.edu/research/budding\_yeast\_model/pp/index.php)

#### **1.2 DNA replication**

The mechanisms of DNA replication are highly conserved from eubacteria to eukaryotes (Sclafani and Holzen 2007). For example, an initiator protein binds replication origins throughout the genome nucleating the assembly of factors required for DNA replication (Reviewed in Mott and Berger 2007; Kawakami and Katayama 2010). The initiator along with a helicase loader recruits the replicative helicase to replication origins (Diffley and Cocker 1992; Romanowski et al. 1996). The eukaryotic initiator is termed the origin recognition complex (ORC) which binds origins and recruits the replicative helicases with the assistance of helicase loaders and accessory proteins (Seki and Diffley 2000; Lei and Tye 2001; Bell and Stillman 1992; Li and Herskowitz 1993; Aparicio et al. 1997; Tanaka et al. 1997). In all eukaryotes, the proteins required for unwinding and elongation must be found at the origins prior to initiation of DNA synthesis (Reviewed in Bell 2002).

### **1.3 Origins of Replication**

Origins of replication are sites in the genome upon which replication machinery assembles prior to genome duplication and where DNA synthesis initiates (Huberman and Riggs 1966; Chan and Tye 1980). Not every origin of replication is used in each cell cycle, nor do they fire at the same time (Wyrick et al. 2001).

Replication origins in eubacteria are defined by a specific nucleotide sequence that appears only once in the genome (Marsh and Worcel 1977). This specific sequence is important for the function of the prokaryotic origin: providing the initiator proteins a site

to recognize and bind in the origin (Marsh and Worcel 1977; Meijer et al. 1979; Messer et al. 1979; Chakraborty et al. 1982).

*Saccharomyces cerevisiae* also utilizes a specific nucleotide sequence as a replication origin, however, a single origin is no longer sufficient, and the genome contains 429 predicted origins (Petes et al. 1974; Wyrick et al. 2001). Origins of replication in *S. cerevisiae* are referred to as autonomously replicating sequences (ARS). All ARS elements are defined by an 11-bp region termed the ARS consensus sequence (ACS or A; Cannon et al. 1990). The ACS, along with another nucleotide consensus sequence termed the B1 element, make up the core of the replication origin, marking the binding sites for ORC (Marahrens and Stillman 1992; Diffley and Cocker, 1992). Along with these two elements, other sequence elements are also present within 100 bp of some ARS elements, but are not essential for function (Marahrens and Stillman, 1992; Reviewed in Bell, 1995). Not all genomic regions containing the ACS sequence are used as origins of replication.

In the yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, there is limited sequence similarity from origin to origin throughout the genome, with a weak consensus sequence (Dubey et al. 1994; Clyne and Kelly 1995; Okuno et al. 1997; Kim and Huberman 1998). Regions composed of AT-rich stretches serve as ORC binding sites (Chuang and Kelly 1999; Moon et al. 1999; Kong and DePamphilis 2001).

In metazoans, the importance of nucleotide sequence specificity is reduced despite a greater number of origins to cope with the increased size of the genome

(Huberman and Riggs 1966). The search for discrete origins of replication in metazoan cells has yielded no defined conserved nucleotide sequence.

Metazoan replication origins that have been identified are zones of initiation, rather than discrete sequences, and are prevalently in close proximity to actively transcribed genes (Kitsberg et al. 1993; Dijkwel et al. 2002). DNA in cells exists as a protein-DNA structure termed chromatin which typically exists in two forms, namely protein accessible euchromatin and tightly packed heterochromatin (Reviewed in Khorasanizadeh 2004). This localization of origins is most likely due to the euchromatic status of these regions allowing replication machinery access to the DNA (MacAlpine et al 2004; Audit et al. 2009; Field et al. 2008; Zhou et al. 2005). Regions of the genome, termed heterochromatin, are thought to be inaccessible to replication machinery, however, replication in these regions must still occur for complete faithful transmission of genetic material (Cayrou et al. 2010). Evidence has demonstrated the need for chromatin remodeling in heterochromatin for the assembly of replication machinery in these regions (Collins et al. 2002; Cayrou et al. 2010).

Therefore, *S. cerevisiae* origins of replication are atypical in eukaryotes due to their sequence specificity.

#### **1.4 The pre-replicative complex**

The pre-replicative complex (preRC) is a multi-protein complex that assembles at replication origins during G1-phase (Diffley et al. 1994; Diffley et al. 1995; Cocker et al.

1996; Romanowski et al. 1996; Donovan et al. 1997). Assembly of the preRC culminates with the loading of the replicative helicase onto replication origins. The replicative helicase, termed the minichromosome maintenance 2-7 (Mcm2-7) complex, is responsible for the unwinding of duplex DNA during genome duplication (Reviewed in Bochman and Schwacha 2009). The loading of the replicative helicase is a process that must be completed prior to initiation of S-phase during the cell cycle. The first step of preRC assembly is the binding of the initiator, ORC (Bell and Stillman 1992; Diffley et al. 1994). ORC is bound to replication origins throughout the cell cycle and during G1 recruits other factors to origins to assemble the preRC (Diffley et al. 1994; Diffley et al. 1995; Cocker et al. 1996; Romanowski et al. 1996; Donovan et al. 1997). Mcm2-7 is loaded onto replication origins in an ATP-dependent manner and requires ORC, Cdc6 and Cdt1 (Figure 1.2; Cocker et al. 1996; Romanowski et al. 1996; Donovan et al. 1997; Bowers et al. 2004; Randell et al. 2006; Kawasaki et al. 2006; Remus et al. 2009; Evrin et al. 2009). Many Mcm2-7 complexes are loaded onto any single origin. In fact, there seems to be 10 to 40-fold excess Mcm2-7 complexes per origin (Lei et al. 1996; Edwards et al. 2002).



**Figure 1.2: Schematic representation of the pre-replicative complex.** The preRC is formed on double stranded DNA (Tanaka and Nasmyth 1998; Dimitrova et al. 1999; Costa and Onesti 2008). The minimal system requirements of ORC, Cdc6, Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 are shown. The Mcm2-7 complex, along with Cdt1, dimerizes upon helicase loading (Remus et al. 2009; Evrin et al. 2009).

#### **1.5 Origin Recognition Complex**

ORC is a multimeric complex that binds to replication origins scattered throughout an organism's genome (Stillman et al. 1992). ORC is the first factor present at the origins of replication and regulates the assembly of the preRC (Stillman et al. 1992; Diffley and Cocker 1992; Diffley et al. 1994).

ORC is composed of six subunits named sequentially Orc1-6 by their gel electrophoresis migration, from slowest to fastest. S. cerevisiae ORC (ScORC) recognizes the ACS and B1 elements of replication origins (Stillman et al. 1992; Diffley and Cocker 1992), while S. pombe ORC (SpORC) recognizes AT-rich regions of the genome, through an AT-hook motif on the Orc4 subunit (Chuang and Kelly 1999; Kong and DePamphilis 2001). The non-specific nature of SpORC binding likely explains why fission yeast do not have replication origins that are easily defined by sequence. ORC homologues are found in higher eukaryotes and all share the origin binding function of yeast ORC, but differ in the mechanisms by which the binding is achieved (Gossen et al. 1995; Carpenter et al. 1996; Quintana et al 1997). Unlike ScORC, ORC found in metazoans does not have a strong sequence requirement for DNA association (Muzi-Falconi and Kelly 1995). Other mechanisms may be responsible for ORC-origin interaction beyond nucleotide recognition. A conserved domain within Orc1, termed the bromo-adjacent homology domain, may be in part responsible for the interaction of ORC with chromatin, rather than a specific DNA sequence (Callebaut et al. 1999). In budding yeast, this domain has been implicated in ScORC-origin association independent of the ACS (Callebaut et al. 1999; Müller et al. 2010).

The concept of ORC's role in the assembly of the preRC has evolved from being a simple landing pad to an active participant in the loading reaction (Stillman et al. 1992; Bell and Stillman 1992; Reviewed in Diffley 1996; Bowers et al. 2004; Speck et al. 2005). ORC utilizes ATP to perform its function with the ATPase activity being essential for cell viability (Bowers et al. 2004).

ATP binding by ORC is essential for origin recognition (Klemm et al. 1997; Speck et al. 2005). Cdc6 associates with the ATP-bound form of ORC on origins of replication (Bowers et al. 2004). ORC-dependent ATP hydrolysis by Cdc6 drives Mcm2-7 origin loading in a Cdt1-dependent manner (Randell et al. 2006). Next, ATP hydrolysis by ORC is thought to release Cdc6 and Cdt1 from the origin (Randell et al. 2006; Kawasaki et al. 2006; Tsakraklides and Bell 2010). This hydrolysis event frees ORC to bind a new ATP molecule and drives another round of Mcm2-7 loading (Bowers et al. 2004; Randell et al. 2006). Recent observations suggest that Cdt1 may not be released from Mcm2-7 upon loading, but rather is no longer associated with ORC or Cdc6 (Remus et al. 2009). Interestingly, most evidence points to ScORC on origins throughout the cell cycle only briefly being displaced during synthesis in budding yeast (Diffley and Cocker 1992; Bell and Stillman 1992; Tsakraklides and Bell 2010). The temporary release of ORC from origins appears to be Cdc6-dependent (Bowers et al. 2004). Once the cell has entered S-phase the levels of Cdc6 are diminished (Drury et al. 2000; Kim et al. 2007). Therefore, ORC no longer needs to be released for reiterative Mcm2-7 loading once in Sphase and no longer displaces from the origin (Randell et al. 2006).

In mammalian cells, Orc1 binds chromatin in a cell cycle-dependent manner (McNairn et al. 2005). Orc1 dissociates from the origins once the cell has entered Sphase, at which point it is ubiquitinated, followed by its degradation (Natale et al. 2000; Fujita et al. 2002; Méndez et al. 2002; Sugimoto et al. 2009). The dissociation of Orc1 from replication origins is another form of replication control preventing the assembly of the preRC during the rest of the cell cycle.

ORC has functions in the cell other than those required for preRC assembly (Micklem et al. 1993; Foss et al. 1993; Bell et al. 1993; Fox et al. 1995; Loo et al. 1995; Bell et al. 1995; Triolo and Sternglanz 1996; MacAlpine et al. 2010). In yeast, ORC has been found to recruit factors responsible for gene silencing to sites containing the ACS (Micklem et al. 1993; Foss et al. 1993; Bell et al. 1993; Palacios DeBeer et al. 1999; Sutton et al. 2001; Rusché and Rine 2001; Sharp et al. 2003). The ORC subunits shown to be directly involved in silencing are Orc1, Orc2 and Orc5, with the whole ORC complex presumably taking part (Micklem et al. 1993; Foss et al. 1993; Bell et al. 1993; Fox et al. 1995; Loo et al. 1995; Bell et al. 1995; Triolo and Sternglanz 1996). Orc1 is also present at centrosomes and controls their copy number (Reviewed in Sasaki and Gilbert 2007; Hemerly et al. 2009).

### 1.6 Cell Division Cycle 6 (Cdc6)

Cdc6 is required for Mcm2-7 loading and was first identified in *S. cerevisiae* as essential for cell cycle progression (Lisziewicz et al. 1988). Cdc6 homologues exist from yeast to humans (Kawarabayasi et al. 2001; Coleman et al. 1996; Tugal et al. 1998; Saha

et al. 1998). Cdc6 is an ATPase, but requires interaction with ORC for hydrolysis activity (Speck et al. 2005). The ATP site of Cdc6 is essential for Mcm2-7 assembly at origins as described above and has been implicated in ORC stability and site selectivity on replication origins (Perkins and Diffley 1998; Mizushima et al. 2000; Randell et al. 2006).

#### 1.7 Mcm2-7

DNA polymerases, enzymes responsible for DNA synthesis, use single stranded DNA as a template (Mitra and Kornberg 1966). However, DNA is typically double stranded and requires replicative helicases to melt the two strands (Reviewed in Coleman and Oakley 1980). Helicase function depends on its ability to utilize nucleotide hydrolysis as a source of energy to unwind the double helix (Hoffmann-Berling 1982). The replicative helicase in eukaryotic cells is Mcm2-7 (Labib et al. 2000; Labib and Diffley 2001, Takahashi et al. 2005; Forsburg 2008; Bochman and Schwacha 2009). Unlike other replicative helicases found in Archaea, eubacteria and viruses, which are homohexamers, the Mcm2-7 complex is a heterohexamer (Donmez and Patel 2006; Baily et al. 2007, Kelmen et al. 1999; Chong et al. 2000; Fletcher et al. 2003). The Mcm2-7 heterohexamer has the ability to bind and hydrolyze ATP and can be reconstituted from recombinant proteins (Lee and Hurwitz 2000; Schwacha and Bell 2001; Davey et al. 2003). The ATP hydrolysis activity is located in a 200-residue stretch that is conserved throughout the Mcms, termed the Mcm box (Reviewed in Koonin 1993). DNA binding

and unwinding are controlled through ATP binding and hydrolysis, respectively (Stead et al. 2009; Bochman et al. 2008; Bochman and Schwacha 2007, 2010).

ATP binding and hydrolysis is essential for Mcm2-7 helicase activity, however, the mechanism of DNA unwinding has not been determined. The six subunits of the complex form a ring that contains a central channel that is large enough to accommodate dsDNA (Brewster et al. 2008). Whether dsDNA or ssDNA travels through the channel is an area of study and there exist several models explaining how Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA. One such model has ssDNA passing through the central channel with the other strand passing on the outside of the hexameric ring (Figure 1.3B; Reviewed in Bochman and Schwacha 2009). Another related hypothesis has dsDNA entering the central channel with one strand exiting through a side channel while the first transits on through the centre (Figure 1.3C; Bochman et al. 2009). It is also possible that Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA not directly at the replication fork but at a distance, anchored to a structure, potentially the nuclear membrane. From there, Mcm2-7 proceeds to unwind DNA by changing the torsional strain on the duplex (Figure 1.3D). This model provides an explanation for observations in mammalian cells that localize Mcm2-7 away from the replication fork during DNA synthesis, termed the Mcm paradox (Reviewed in Laskey and Madine 2003). However, Mcm2-7 is at the replication fork in other organisms. In experiments in human cells it is possible that the signal from excess Mcm proteins found away from the fork drowns out the signal of those at the fork (Aparicio et al. 1997; Edwards et al. 2002, Takahashi et al. 2005). In another model, Mcm2-7 might be a drive motor for what is referred to as a ploughshare, which separates the two DNA strands (Figure 1.3E).

However, Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA without any other factors involved, making the ploughshare model less likely (Bochman and Schwacha 2008). Lastly, the Mcm2-7 complex may act in the same fashion as described for the SV 40 T-antigen helicase (Bochman and Schwacha 2008). In this model, Mcm2-7 dimerizes and threads dsDNA through its central core, with the ssDNA being released from the dimer interface or the side channels (Figure 1.3F, side channels depicted in A; Bochman and Schwacha 2008).

Cells have a pattern of regulated and coordinated events that load Mcm2-7 at the proper time and place, preventing inappropriate loading of Mcm2-7 onto replication origins (Blow and Dutta 2005). Mcm2-7 is held inactive at the origins once it has been loaded so as not to unwind DNA prematurely (Reviewed in Bochman and Schwacha 2009). Activation of Mcm2-7 is a multi-step process that includes post-translational modifications and the association of other factors such as Cdc45 and the GINS complex, (Japanese for 5 (Go), 1 (Ichi), 2 (Ni) and 3 (San) corresponding to Sld5, Psf1, Psf2 and Psf3; Takayama et al. 2003; Ilves et al. 2010).

Mcm2-7 complexes have also been implicated in other cellular functions due to their high copy number and observations that reduction of protein levels do not alter DNA replication (Todorov et al. 1998; Lei et al. 1996; Oehlmann et al 2004; Burkhart et al 2005; Crevel et al. 2007). The excess Mcm2-7 is required during times of replicative stress (Woodward et al. 2006; Ge et al. 2007; Ibarra et al. 2008). Mcm2-7 is also required for transcription regulation and chromatin remodeling (Zhang et al. 1998; Snyder et al. 2005; Holland et al. 2002; Snyder et al. 2009).



**Figure 1.3: DNA unwinding models for Mcm2-7.** (A-C; strand exclusion model) The Mcm2-7 complex is shown in cross-section from the side with only 3 subunits of the heterohexamer shown. (A) The Mcm2-7 complex is predicted to contain a central channel and side channels. (B) Only one strand enters the central channel with the other strand never entering the protein complex. The two DNA strands are separated by the entire protein complex. (C) Both DNA strands enter the central channel with one of the DNA strands exiting through one of the side channels. The separation of the two DNA strands occurs on the inside of the Mcm2-7 complex. (Adapted from Bochman et al. 2009). (D-F; the other Mcm2-7 models) (D) Mcm2-7 unwinds DNA at a distance from the origin of replication by being tethered to a scaffold, and changing the torsional strain on the DNA to create regions that melt. (E) Ploughshare model. Mcm2-7 acts as a drive motor that pulls along another component that separates the two strands of DNA. (F) T-antigen model. The Mcm2-7 complexes unwind DNA with dsDNA entering the central channel and exiting as a single stranded loop.

### 1.8 Cdt1

Cdc10-dependent transcript 1 (Cdt1), a protein component of the pre-replicative complex, is essential for the assembly of Mcm2-7 onto replication origins (Hofmann and Beach 1994; Nishitani et al. 2000; Maiorano et al. 2000). Cdt1 homologues have been found in all eukaryotes, from yeast to humans, and in all cases, Cdt1 is essential for Mcm2-7 loading (Hofmann and Beach 1994; Devault et al. 2002; Maiorano et al. 2000; Whittaker et al. 2000). Budding yeast Cdt1 (ScCdt1) is a 604 a.a. protein with a molecular weight of 68 kDa. Cdt1 has no known catalytic function unlike the other preRC components. Mammalian Cdt1 contains at least two domains, an N-terminal domain required for geminin interaction and DNA binding as well as a C-terminal domain required for interaction with Mcm2-7 (Yanagi et al. 2002). It is still unclear what mechanistic role Cdt1 plays within the context of the preRC (Hoffmann and Beach 1994; Maiorano et al. 2000; Nishitani et al. 2000, 2001; Yanow et al. 2001; Devault et al. 2002).

Cdt1 interacts directly Mcm2-7 in all organisms studied (Yanagi et al 2002; Cook et al. 2004; Teer and Dutta 2008; Wei et al. 2010; Jee et al. 2010). This interaction has been examined through co-purification, yeast two-hybrid assays, sucrose gradient sedimentation and x-ray crystallography (Kawasaki et al. 2004; Teer and Dutta 2008;You and Masai 2008; Remus et al. 2009; Wei et al. 2010; Jee at al. 2010). In mammals, the interaction is mediated through the C-terminal tail of Cdt1, at least in the context of Mcm6 (Teer and Dutta 2008; Jee et al. 2010; Wei et al. 2010). This region of Mcm6 contains a helix turn helix motif that binds to Cdt1 through residues Glu – 757, 763 and

766 (Wei et al. 2010). There is some evidence for Mcm2 to take part in this interaction (You and Masai 2008). The observation that Cdt1 co-purifies with Mcm2-7 from cell extracts in *Xenopus* and *S. cerevisiae* is indicative of complex formation *in vivo* (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Teer and Dutta 2008; Remus et al. 2009; Evrin et al. 2009). Further support for a Mcm2-7+Cdt1 complex (Mcm2-7•Cdt1) comes from co-dependent nuclear localization of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1 in budding yeast (Tanaka and Diffley 2002).

Interestingly, reconstitution of the pre-replicative complex using pure proteins required the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex (Remus et al. 2009; Evrin et al. 2009). When preRC assembly was attempted with recombinant Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 added separately, the preRC could not be reconstituted (Remus et al. 2009). This observation led Remus et al. (2009) to propose that an accessory factor could potentially be required for the assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex prior to loading. The activity of Mcm2-7 may be altered by the presence of Cdt1 upon complex formation that allows it to form the preRC.

Several functional sub-complexes of Mcm2-7 have been described *in vitro* including Mcm4/6/7, which gave insight into the activity of the Mcm2-7 helicase complex (Ishimi 1997; Lee and Hurwitz 2001; You and Masai 2005; Stead et al. 2009). Stimulation of helicase activity was observed when Cdt1 was added to the Mcm4/6/7 complex (You and Masai 2008). Mcm4/6/7 is not sufficient *in vivo*, Mcm2, Mcm3 and Mcm5 are also required (Pacek et al. 2004; Pacek et al. 2006). The effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7 may be different than that on Mcm4/6/7 (Reviewed in Bochman and Schwacha 2009). The ability to reconstitute helicase activity with Mcm2-7 *in vitro* provides a tool to study the effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7 activity directly, and answer many questions as to

the function of Cdt1 in the preRC (Bochman and Schwacha 2008). It is this aspect of Cdt1 function that this thesis addresses by ascertaining the modulatory effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7.

#### **1.9 Preventing Re-replication**

To prevent re-replication the preRC can only form during the G1-phase (Reviewed in Lei and Tye 2001; Labib 2010). One of the hallmarks of the transition between the G1-phase and S-phase is the accumulation of active B-type cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) and Dbf4-dependent kinase (DDK; Lei and Tye 2001). The preRC transitions into the pre-initiation complex (preIC) which is composed of at least Sld2, Sld3, Dbp11, Cdc45, GINS, and Mcm2-7 and are all essential for the initiation of DNA synthesis (Reviewed in Teer and Dutta 2006). All but Sld2, Sld3 and Dbp11 are also required for elongation (Teer and Dutta 2006). CDK is responsible for phosphorylating Sld2 and Sld3, which are both required for preIC assembly (Masumoto et al. 2002; Tanaka et al. 2007; Zegerman and Diffley 2007). The phosphorylated forms of Sld2 and Sld3 interact with Dbp11 (Masumoto et al. 2002; Tanaka et al. 2007; Zegerman and Diffley 2007). This CDK-dependent interaction is what recruits Cdc45 to replication origins (Aparicio et al. 1999; Tercero et al. 2000; Zou and Stillman 2000; Tanaka et al. 2007; Zegerman and Diffley 2007). These events then lead to the interaction of GINS with Mcm2-7 and Cdc45 (Tanaka et al. 2007; Muramatsu et al. 2010).

Levels of active Dbf4-dependent kinase also rise at the G1/S-phase transition. DDK is responsible for the activation of Mcm2-7 by phosphorylating Mcm4, which

relieves helicase inhibition (Lei et al. 1997; Geraghty et al. 2000; Sheu and Stillman 2010). DDK is also required for the recruitment of Cdc45 to the replication origins (Yabuuchi et al. 2006). Some evidence suggests that Mcm2 is also an essential target of DDK (Bruck and Kaplan 2009). This conclusion is drawn from the observation that the expression of a phosphodefective Mcm2 causes lethality, however, overexpression of Mcm2 was required to observe this phenotype (Bruck and Kaplan 2009).

In addition to its role in initiating DNA replication, CDK also plays an integral role in preventing re-replication through the phosphorylation of the preRC components (Broek et al. 1991; Dahmann et al. 1995). The differing strategies that cells employ to prevent DNA re-replication are summarized in Figure 1.4. The signal to degrade is typically mediated through a poly-ubiquitination pathway through the action of E3 ubiquitin ligases (Kim and Kioreos 2007, 2008). These ligases are Cul4 in all metazoans, while the Skp2-mediated pathway is only observed in humans (Li et al. 2003; Nishitani et al. 2006; Kim and Kipreos 2007).



**Figure 1.4: Differing strategies for preventing re-replication.** A schematic illustrating the state of the preRC proteins post replication (A) *S. cerevisiae* targets Cdc6 for degradation and Cdt1 for export through CDK modifications. (B) *S. pombe* targets both Cdc18 (Cdc6) and Cdt1 for degradation in a CDK dependent manner. (C) Metazoan Cdc6 is exported from the nucleus in a CDK dependent manner. Cdt1 is both degraded through CDK phosphorylation and subsequent poly-ubiquitination. Cdt1 is also sequestered by geminin. Orc1 is phosphorylated by CDK, which dissociates it from chromatin. (Figure adapted from Feng and Kipreos 2003)

#### Cdc6

In budding and fission yeast, phosphorylation of Cdc6 by CDK targets Cdc6 for poly-ubiquitination and subsequent degradation, thereby preventing further Mcm2-7 loading (Kominami et al. 1997; Wolf et al. 1999; Drury et al. 2000; Kim et al. 2007). In *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Cdc6 is phosphorylated on multiple CDK sites at the N-terminus (Kim et al. 2007). This modification is essential for the nuclear export of Cdc6 at the onset of S-phase (Kim et al. 2007). Interestingly, this phosphorylation event is Cul4dependent a reverse of the typical CDK modification followed by a Cul4 modification of a target protein (Kim et al. 2007). In vertebrates, phosphorylation of Cdc6 by CDK also causes its exclusion from the nucleus without directly leading to its degradation (Saha et al. 1998; Fujita 1999; Jiang et al. 1999; Petersen et al. 1999; Delmolino et al. 2001; Luo et al. 2003; Alexandrow and Hamlin 2004; Crevel et al. 2005). This phosphorylation of Cdc6 prevents its reassociation with preRC components (Mimura et al. 2004; Honey and Futcher 2007).

#### ORC

ORC subunits are also phosphorylated by CDK to prevent re-replication. In budding yeast, Orc2 and Orc6 are targets of CDK (Nguyen et al. 2001). This modification prevents further Mcm2-7 loading, yet, it does not alter the ability of ORC to bind DNA (Nguyen et al. 2001; Feng and Kipreos 2003). How phosphorylation of ORC is reversed so as to permit the next round of preRC formation has yet to be determined.

Mammalian Orc1 is modified by CDK which decreases the affinity of Orc1 for chromatin (Mendez et al. 2002). Upon phosphorylation, Orc1 dissociates from the rest of the ORC complex and from chromatin, in effect preventing further preRC formation (Mendez et al. 2002, Feng and Kipreos 2003). The modification by CDK is a prerequisite for Skp2-mediated poly-ubiquitination of Orc1 (Mendez et al. 2002, Feng and Kipreos 2003). When the cell transitions from M-phase to G1-phase, the preRC can be reformed on replication origins with newly-synthesized Orc1 (Mendez et al. 2002; Li et al. 2004; Reviewed in Blow and Dutta 2005).

#### Mcm2-7

Mcm2-7 is loaded onto DNA during G1-phase, however, the amount of Mcm2-7 is in great excess compared to the number of origins in all cells tested (Lei et al. 1996; Edwards et al. 2002; Fujita et al. 2002; Ghaemmaghami et al. 2003). In *S. cerevisiae*, Mcm2-7 complexes that are not involved in DNA unwinding are exported out of the nucleus after the transition from G1 to S-phase in a CDK-dependent manner (Labib et al. 1999). Export prevents promiscuous loading of Mcm2-7 onto origins that have already been activated (review Aparicio et al. 2006; Labib and Gambus 2007). Interestingly, *de novo* translated Mcm proteins are preferentially imported at the onset of G1 (Braun and Breeden 2007).

In mammalian cells, some data suggest that the phosphorylation of Mcm3 by CDK may decrease its ability to form a complex with the other Mcms (Lin et al. 2008). The implications of this phosphorylation are still being explored, though it may be required for the cells to enter M-phase (Lin et al. 2008).

#### Cdt1

In budding yeast cells, Cdt1 is exported from the nucleus once it has been phosphorylated by CDK during the transition from G1 to S phase (Tanaka and Diffley 2002). This export prevents further Mcm2-7 loading until the next cell cycle whereby Cdt1 is either synthesized *de novo* or imported back into the nucleus (Kim and Kipreos, 2007). In all other systems examined, including fission yeast and mammals, Cdt1 is rapidly degraded during the onset of S-phase (Nishitani et al. 2000; Feng and Kipreos 2003).

Degradation of Cdt1 is a central theme that runs throughout metazoans. For instance, studies in human cancer cell lines have shown that overexpression of Cdt1 induces genome instability caused by re-replication (Nishitani et al. 2004; Tatsumi et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2007; Sugimoto et al. 2008). Re-replication can only be observed through overexpression, most likely due to the redundancy of the control mechanisms behind helicase loading, such as the Cdt1 inhibitor protein geminin (McGarry and Kirschner 1998; Wohlschlegel et al. 2000; Tatsumi et al. 2006).

Geminin binds tightly to Cdt1 and regulates its availability to promote preRC assembly (McGarry and Kirschner 1998; Wohlschlegel et al. 2000; Tada et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2004). As cells transition from G1-to S-phase, geminin accumulates in the nucleus and binds Cdt1. Once the cell begins to transition from mitosis, the levels of geminin
begin to diminish, thereby allowing preRC formation (Tada et al. 2001). A *S. cerevisiae* geminin homologue has not yet been identified.

In metazoans, phosphorylation of Cdt1 by CDK promotes poly-ubiquitination of Cdt1 by Cul4 E3 ligase targeting it to the lysosome (Zhong et al. 2003; Liu et al. 2004; Nishitani et al. 2006; Kim and Kipreos 2007). Therefore, once the cell transitions from the G1 phase, most of the Cdt1 is exported from the nucleus and degraded (Jin et al. 2006; Arias and Walter 2006). Human cells have another Cdt1 degradation pathway that appears to be unique compared to other metazoans (Li et al. 2003). This pathway, like the Cul4 pathway in yeast, is a poly-ubiquitination pathway that is mediated through Skp2, an E3 ligase, within the Skp2 Cullin F-box (SCF) complex (Liu et al. 2004; Sugimoto et al. 2004). It is still unclear why human cells contain two very similar pathways for Cdt1 degradation, possibly another form of redundant DNA replication control.

## 1.10 Thesis overview

Multiple proteins must assemble in the correct place at the right time for proper preRC assembly. Many redundant mechanisms prevent wanton preRC formation. Many of these mechanisms focus on the availability of Cdt1 at origins of replication.

Due to its central role in the assembly and regulation of the preRC, I set out to determine the role of Cdt1 within the pre-replicative complex. I hypothesized that Cdt1 modulates the activity of Mcm2-7 to create a functionally distinct complex from that of Mcm2-7. If this were the case, this would be a new role for Cdt1 during the assembly of the preRC.

24

To test my hypothesis, I reconstituted the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex and assessed the activities of this complex compared to Mcm2-7 alone. I discovered that indeed the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex is functionally distinct from Mcm2-7 alone, with Cdt1 decreasing the ATP hydrolysis and DNA unwinding activities of Mcm2-7. Furthermore, Mcm2-7•Cdt1 showed increased dsDNA binding affinity relative to Mcm2-7 alone. These results suggest that Cdt1 modifies the activity of the Mcm2-7 complex to allow Mcm2-7 to load onto dsDNA. It also reveals a novel helicase regulation mechanism by Cdt1 that prevents premature unwinding at replication origins prior to S-phase.

# **Chapter 2 - Materials and Methods**

#### 2.1 Purification of Mcms

Mcm2, Mcm4, Mcm5, Mcm6, and Mcm7 were purified as described before in Davey et al. (2003). Mcm3<sup>PK</sup> was purified as described in Stead et al. (2009).

## 2.2 Cdt1 purification

Cdt1 was purified from *E. coli* cells expressing a recombinant *S. cerevisiae* Cdt1 (12 L) grown to an OD<sub>600</sub> 0.5-0.6, chilled to 15°C and then induced by addition of 1 mM IPTG. The cells were lysed in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 500 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT and 10% sucrose through a cell homogenenizer. Insoluble material was removed by centrifugation at 27,000 g for 30 min at 4 °C. Ammonium sulfate was added to the soluble fraction at a final concentration of 0.3 mg/ml. The precipitate was pelleted by centrifugation at 27,000g for 30 min at 4 °C then resuspended in 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10% glycerol, 0.1 mM EDTA, and 2 mM DTT (Buffer A). The solution was then dialyzed against Buffer A until the protein solution reached a conductivity equivalent to 100 mM NaCl. The solution (~120 mg of total protein) was applied to a 30 ml Fast Flow Q (FFQ) column equilibrated with Buffer A with 50 mM NaCl. Cdt1 was eluted with a linear gradient of 50 mM to 500 mM NaCl in Buffer A. Peak fractions were pooled (~60 mg of total protein) and dialyzed to a conductivity equivalent of 150-200 mM NaCl and applied to a 20 ml Heparin column equilibrated in Buffer A with 100 mM NaCl. Cdt1

26

was eluted with a linear gradient of 100 mM to 500 mM NaCl in Buffer A. Peak fractions were pooled and dialyzed against 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 10% glycerol, 0.1 mM EDTA and 2 mM DTT (Buffer H) with 100 mM NaCl to a conductivity equivalent to 100 mM NaCl. The protein solution (~29 mg of total protein) was then applied to a 1 ml MonoQ column equilibrated with Buffer H with 100 mM NaCl. Cdt1 was eluted with a linear gradient of 100 mM to 500 mM NaCl in Buffer H. Peak protein (~4 mg of total Cdt1) was determined by Bradford and SDS-PAGE.

## 2.3 Reconstitution of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1

Two nmol of each Mcm subunit with and without Cdt1 was mixed in 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, and 0.1 mM EDTA and concentrated in a 10,000 Da MW cutoff centrifugal ultrafiltration unit (Millipore, Billerica, Maryland) to a final volume of 200 µl and a conductivity equivalent to 300-400 mM NaCl. The mixture was then incubated at 16°C for 30 minutes followed by a 10-minute centrifugation at 16,000 x g. The protein mixture was then applied to a 26 ml Superose 6 10/300 GL size exclusion chromatography column (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK) equilibrated with 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, and 0.1 mM EDTA. Fractions of 250 µl were collected and analyzed by 8% SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue.

#### 2.4 DNA binding assays

DNA binding assays were performed in 100 µl with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled Mcm2-7<sup>3PK</sup> (labeled as described in Stead et al 2009). Two hundred fmol protein sample was incubated with the amount of DNA substrate indicated (50-200 fmol; M13mp19 ssDNA and Y70-Cdt1 dsDNA (yeast LEU2 CEN/ARS), both plasmids approximately 8 kb in size) in the presence or absence of 5 mM ATP in Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.1 mM EDTA, and 10 mM magnesium acetate for 10 minutes at 37°C. The sample was then analyzed on a 5 ml, 4 % cross-linked agarose gel filtration column equilibrated with 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.5), 10 mM magnesium acetate, 0.1 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 50 µg/ml bovine serum albumin and 2 mM DTT. The amount of <sup>32</sup>P-Mcm2-7<sup>3PK</sup> in each fraction was determined by scintillation counting. Analysis of the data (area under curve for recovery and ANOVA for comparison of mean DNA binding) were conducted in GraphPad Prism (La Jolla, CA)

## 2.5 Cdt1 polyclonal antibody

Polyclonal anti-Cdt1 antibody was raised and produced in New Zealand White rabbits by Pacific Immunology, Inc (Ramona, CA). The immune sera were tested against recombinant Cdt1 and in yeast protein extracts to verify that the antibodies generated were Cdt1-specific.

### 2.6 Co-immunoprecipitation

Protein G Dynabeads (Invitrogen, 100.03D; Carlsbad, California) were prepared following the instructions given by the supplier. Briefly, 50 µl of resin was combined with 10 µl of anti-Cdt1 polyclonal rabbit IgG sera in 200 µl phosphate buffered saline pH 7.4 (PBS) containing 0.02% Tween-20 (Poloxyethylene (20) Sorbitan Monolaurate; PBST). This mixture was then incubated at room temperature for at least 30 minutes with mixing. Following the incubation, the resin was washed once with 200 µl PBST and then resuspended in 200 µl PBST.

Purified proteins were used in the co-immunoprecipitation. Each protein was added to a final concentration of 5 pmol/µl, in a 50 µl volume, in 20 mM HEPES pH7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, 10 % glycerol, and 0.1 mM EDTA. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and then 8 µl of anti-Cdt1 resin was added. The mixture was then incubated at room temperature for an additional 15 minutes and isolated via a magnet and washed 5 times with 200 µl 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 300 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, and 0.1 mM EDTA. Bound proteins were eluted by boiling for 10 min in 20 µl SDS sample buffer. Ten percent of the load and 50% of the elution was then analyzed by either immunoblotting or on an 8% SDS-PAGE gel stained with GelCode Blue (Thermo Scientific, 24590; Waltham, MA).

#### 2.7 DNA unwinding assay

DNA unwinding was performed and quantified as described in Stead et al. 2009 with the following modifications. Assay buffer contained 5% polyethylene glycol 3350 (Mallinckrodt Baker; Phillipsburg NJ) and 100 mM sodium glutamate.

## 2.8 ATP Hydrolysis

ATP hydrolysis by the preRC components in isolation or in combination with DNA substrate and with each other was assayed through the use of thin-layer chromatography (TLC) as described in Stead et al. 2009. Each 12 µl reaction contained 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10mM magnesium acetate, 2mM DTT, 1mM ATP, with 5 µCi [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP (Perkin Elmer Life Sciences, BLU002A250Ci; Waltham, MA). For the experiments where Cdt1 was added to Mcm2-7, the proteins were incubated on ice for 60 min before the addition of ATP. Samples were then incubated at 30°C for the times indicated. Following this,  $2 \mu l$  of the reaction was removed and guenched with  $2 \mu l$  of stop buffer (40 mM EDTA, 1% SDS). A portion was spotted onto polyethyleneimine cellulose TLC sheets (EM Science, 5579/7; Damstadt, Germany) and the sheets were developed in 0.6 M potassium phosphate monobasic (pH 3.4) for 8 min. Once the sheets were dry, they were exposed to a PhosphorStorage screen and then scanned on a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK). Data analysis (linear regression for hydrolysis rates and ANOVA for mean rate comparisons) was conducted with GraphPad Prism (La Jolla, CA).

30

### 2.9 ORC purification

An E. coli strain that co-expresses all six of the ORC subunits each under the control of the T7 RNA polymerase promoter (M.J.Davey, J. Finkelstein and M. O'Donnell, unpublished) was grown to an  $OD_{600}$  of 0.5, chilled to 15°C and then induced by addition of 1 mM IPTG. After 18-20 hr shaking at 15°C, the cells (12 L) were harvested by centrifugation and resuspended (10 % w/v) in 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 150 mM KCl, 10% sucrose, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM DTT, and 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. The lysate was centrifuged at 27,000 xg for one hour and the supernatant was applied to an 40 ml SP Sepharose column equilibrated in 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 150 mM KCl and 10% glycerol and eluted with a 400 ml linear gradient of 150 mM KCl to 700 mM KCl in the above buffer. The peak fractions, as determined by SDS-PAGE, were pooled (approximately 40 mg in 110 ml) and loaded onto a 1 ml Hi-Trap (GE Healthcare, 17-0408-01; Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK) Ni-affinity column, equilibrated with 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 400 mM KCl, 5 mM imidazole and 10% glycerol. The column was then washed with 20 ml of 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 400 mM KCl, 60 mM imidazole, 10% glycerol, followed by elution with 20 ml of 20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 400 mM KCl, 1 M imidazole, 10% glycerol. The peak fractions, as determined by SDS-PAGE, were pooled and loaded onto a P-100 (polyacrylamide gel filtration beads) column equilibrated in 25 mM Tris pH 8.0, 400 mM KCl, 5mM MgOAc, 10% glycerol, 0.02% NP-40, and 1 mM DTT. The resulting elution was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250.

31

### 2.10 Electrophoresis Gel Mobility Shift Assays

The oligonucleotide MD195 (5' – AAG CGC CAC GCT TCC CGA AG –3'; henceforth MD195\*) was labeled at the 5' end using polynucleotide kinase (PNK; New England Biolabs, M0201L). MD195\* along with MD196 (5' – Biotin – GTT GTA AAA CGA CGG CCA GTG –3') were used to amplify *ARS1*-containing fragments from pUC18 plasmids containing either *ARS1* or an *ARS1* fragment deleted between the *BamH1-Bg1* restriction sites, removing the ACS (*ARS1AA*). The amplified *ARS1* and *ARS1AA* DNA were then purified via ethanol precipitation. The DNA was then incubated with the indicated amounts of protein for 10 min at 37°C. The mixture was then analyzed by native PAGE, and the gel was dried and exposed to a PhosphorStorage screen before scanning on a Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK). Densitometry measurements were conducted using ImageQuant 5.2 (Molecular Dynamics, GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK).

# **Chapter 3 – Results**

## 3.1 Interaction of Cdt1 with Mcm2-7

I wished to test whether Cdt1 could interact and form a complex with Mcm2-7 in vitro using pure proteins. I combined each of the individual Mcm subunits and Cdt1 and then separated the complete complex from free proteins using a Superose 6 size exclusion chromatography column. The elution of the proteins from this column was analyzed by SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue. Cdt1 co-eluted with Mcm2-7 proteins, with the peak of elution corresponding to a size of 670 kDa (Figure 3.1A). Notably, Cdt1 with Mcm2-7 eluted much earlier than Cdt1 alone, suggesting that a Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex had formed. Cdt1 analyzed alone has an elution peak at fraction 35 with an apparent size of 131 kDa, which would be the predicted size of a dimer of Cdt1 (Figure 3.1B). Identification of the Cdt1 band was confirmed by western blotting using a polyclonal anti-Cdt1 antibody. Cdt1 is in a 1:1 ratio with each of the Mcm2-7 proteins as determined by densitometric measurement of the Coomassie-stained gels. Mcm2-7 without Cdt1 was also reconstituted (data not shown). The elution profiles of Mcm2-7 (Figure 3.1C) and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (Figure 3.1A) are similar. The addition of 68 kDa in the form of Cdt1 does not change the elution profile of the 600 kDa Mcm2-7 complex, likely due to the resolution capabilities of the Superose 6 column.



**Figure 3.1: Mcm2-7, Cdt1 and a complex containing both were analyzed by gel filtration.** Coomassie Brilliant Blue-stained SDS-PAGE (8%) of the indicated fraction shown for (A) Mcm2-7•Cdt1, (B) Cdt1 alone and (C) Mcm2-7. Mcm3<sup>PK</sup> is a engineered Mcm3 construct, containing a labelable N-terminal epitope tag. Peak elution of size-standards analyzed separately are shown below each panel.

This shift in elution of Cdt1 did not require any other protein components as all the components for complex reconstitution were purified separately from *E. coli*. It is therefore unlikely that any other factors are involved in the assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex.

## 3.2 Co-immunoprecipitation of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1

Co-immunoprecipitation was used to confirm the interaction between Mcm2-7 and Cdt1. Anti-Cdt1 polyclonal antibody coupled to resin was used to isolate Cdt1 along with any proteins bound to it. Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 were incubated together and subsequently added to the resin. After washing the anti-Cdt1 resin, proteins were eluted with SDS sample buffer and analyzed by western blotting for the presence of Mcm2. At the protein concentrations used in the assay, the Mcm2-7 complex remains as a hexamer. It was found that Mcm2-7 immunoprecipitates with Cdt1 (Figure 3.2, lane 3). A control assay with uncoupled G protein resin indicated that Mcm2-7 binding was dependent on Cdt1 and Cdt1 antibody (Figure 3.2, lane 2).



Figure 3.2: Co-immunoprecipitation of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1. Anti-Mcm2 immunoblot of co-immunoprecipitation of Mcm2-7 with Cdt1. (Lane 1) Analysis of the Mcm2-7 loaded onto the anti-Cdt1 resin. (Lane 2) Elution of Mcm2-7 incubated on resin not coupled to  $\alpha$ -Cdt1 antibody. (Lane 3) Elution of Mcm2-7 and Cdt1 on  $\alpha$ Cdt1 antibody coupled resin.

## 3.3 Cdt1 inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7

To determine if Cdt1 modulates the ATP hydrolysis activity of the Mcm2-7 complex, I compared the ATPase activity of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 with Mcm2-7. Cdt1 itself does not have any ATP hydrolysis activity (Figure 3.3), but may modulate that of Mcm2-7. To test this idea, I incubated Mcm2-7•Cdt1 or Mcm2-7 in the presence of  $\gamma^{32}$ P-ATP and measured the amount of  $\gamma^{32}$ P (P<sub>i</sub>) liberated. I first examined ATP hydrolysis of the individual gel filtration fractions of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (Figure 3.4). Two observations were made from this analysis. First, ATPase activity co-eluted with the fractions containing all six Mcm proteins, providing further evidence of complex formation. Second, despite equal amounts of protein in the peak fraction (fraction 21) less activity was observed with Mcm2-7•Cdt1 than with Mcm2-7 (Figure 3.4C).



**Figure 3.3: ATP hydrolysis activity of Cdt1.** The amount of P<sub>i</sub> liberated through the action of Cdt1 over an hour at increasing protein concentrations. The amount of ATP hydrolyzed is not significantly different from the no protein control (P>0.05). The highest protein level at 117 pmol of Cdt1 is representative of 50 fold higher protein level then used in subsequent ATP hydrolysis assays.



Figure 3.4: ATP hydrolysis analysis of the Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes across all fractions from the Superose 6 column. The amount of ATP hydrolyzed over an hour was determined by counting the amount of liberated  $\gamma^{32}P$  (P<sub>i</sub>). The dashed line represents borders of the protein peak (fractions 17-25) eluted from the Superose 6 column as determined by SDS-PAGE.

To determine the rate of ATP hydrolysis for the two complexes, time courses for each complex were conducted (Figure 3.5A). The Mcm2-7 complex hydrolyses ATP at a rate of 1.51±.08 min<sup>-1</sup> compared to the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex at 0.66 ±.03 min<sup>-1</sup>. This decrease in ATP hydrolysis is substantial and represents half the activity of Mcm2-7 alone. The addition of Cdt1 to a pre-formed Mcm2-7 complex could not reconstitute helicase loading (Remus et al. 2009, Ervin et al. 2009), therefore I tested if Cdt1 could decrease the hydrolysis activity of a pre-formed Mcm2-7. The addition of Cdt1 to preformed Mcm2-7 did not have the inhibitory effect as was observed with the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex (Figure 3.5B). To ensure that this was not simply due to lower levels of Cdt1, I titrated increasing amounts of Cdt1 into a constant amount of Mcm2- 7. The Mcm2-7 ATP hydrolysis rate measured showed no difference even at the highest level of Cdt1 (Figure 3.5C).



**Figure 3.5: ATP hydrolysis of Mcm2-7 vs Mcm2-7·Cdt1.** (A) ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7 (empty circle), and Mcm2-7·Cdt1 (filled circles) was measured. Reactions were quenched at 15, 30, 45 and 60 min, and pmol of P<sub>i</sub> produced at each time point was determined. (B) ATP hydrolysis of Mcm2-7 (closed squares) with and without Cdt1 (empty circles) added in solution. The reactions were performed in triplicate, and the mean and standard error of each time point were plotted. The error bars are hidden by the symbols. (C) Mcm2-7 ATP hydrolysis with the addition of increasing amounts of Cdt1. Increasing amounts of recombinant Cdt1 were added to a pre-formed Mcm2-7 complex and the rate of ATP hydrolysis was determined. The mean rate of ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7 is plotted against the amount of Cdt1 added.

### 3.4 Cdt1 inhibits DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7

To test whether Mcm2-7•Cdt1 unwinds DNA to the same extent as Mcm2-7, I performed helicase assays using an oligonucleotide substrate. The helicase assay consisted of a radiolabeled ssDNA oligonucleotide annealed to a complementary oligonucleotide creating a double stranded region. A single stranded poly-dT tail for initial helicase binding is also present (Figure 3.6). The radiolabeled substrate was incubated with either Mcm2-7 or Mcm2-7•Cdt1 and the samples were examined on a native polyacrylamide gel (Figure 3.6A). The amount of DNA unwinding at 100 nM of either complex appeared to be about the same (Figure 3.6B). As the amount of protein was increased from 100 nM to 400 nM, Mcm2-7 had higher DNA unwinding activity than Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (Figure 3.6B). The extent of DNA unwinding by 200 nM Mcm2-7•Cdt1 was approximately 3-fold lower than with Mcm2-7 alone (Figure 3.6C).



**Figure 3.6: Effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7 DNA unwinding.** (A) Representative gel of the DNA helicase assay. The upper band corresponds to the double stranded DNA substrate. The lower band is the single stranded DNA liberated after DNA unwinding. Increasing amounts of Mcm2-7 with and without Cdt1 were incubated with DNA substrate. (B) Quantification of panel (A). (C) Quantification of DNA unwinding activity of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 at 200 nM protein. The reactions were performed in triplicate and the mean and standard error are shown. There is a significant difference between the means (P<0.0001).

## 3.5 DNA binding activity of Mcm2-7

I examined whether DNA binding by Mcm2-7 was altered in the presence of Cdt1. I utilized a gel filtration-based approach to measure DNA binding in which radiolabeled Mcm2-7 or Mcm2-7•Cdt1 was incubated with either circular single or double stranded DNA vector. Protein bound to DNA eluted early from the column (fractions 10-12) whereas free protein eluted later (fractions 15-31; Stead et al. 2009).

I first compared binding of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 to ssDNA. Increasing amounts of ssDNA (50-200 fmol) were titrated into a constant amount of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (Figure 3.7A) and Mcm2-7 (Figure 3.7B).The two complexes bound ssDNA to the same extent at all DNA concentrations tested (Figure 3.7A and B). At 200 fmol ssDNA for either Mcm2-7 or Mcm2-7•Cdt1, the extent of the binding was nearly identical with approximately 16 fmol of protein associating with ssDNA for both complexes (Figure 3.7C).



**Figure 3.7: ssDNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes.** (A) Mcm2-7•Cdt1 with 50 fmol (open squares), 100 fmol (filled circles) and 200 fmol (open circles) of single stranded DNA. (B) Mcm2-7 with 50 fmol (open squares), 100 fmol (filled circles) and 200 fmol (open circles) of single stranded DNA. (C) Comparison of the peak fraction (fr11) of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 with 200 fmol ssDNA. Each DNA binding experiment was performed in triplicate, the mean has been plotted without error bars for clarity (A-B) standard error shown in C. Protein recovery ranged from 70% - 60% and the DNA-protein interaction is ATP dependent.

Double stranded DNA binding was consistent with other studies on Mcm2-7 (Bochman and Schwacha 2007; Stead et al. 2009). I observed little to no dsDNA binding by Mcm2-7 alone under conditions where there is robust ssDNA binding (Figure 3.8A). Only  $1.7\pm1.1$  fmol of Mcm2-7 eluted at the DNA elution peak at fraction 11 at 200 fmol DNA. The interaction was equally low for all dsDNA concentrations assayed with  $1.9\pm1.1$  fmol and  $1.9\pm0.8$  fmol at 100 fmol and 50 fmol of dsDNA, respectively, at the DNA elution peak (Figure 3.8A). In contrast, binding of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 was detected on dsDNA (Figure 3.8 B). Mcm2-7•Cdt1 binds dsDNA significantly better than Mcm2-7, with 6.0  $\pm1.1$  fmol Mcm2-7•Cdt1 eluting at the DNA peak compared to  $1.7\pm1.1$  fmol Mcm2-7 (Figure 3.8E).

In the absence of DNA, both complexes migrate through the gel filtration column as is expected of unbound protein and elute in fraction 20 (Figure 3.8D). This profile suggests that the protein complexes are not aggregating, and thus not skewing the results by changing the elution profile of free protein. It is reasonable to conclude that the interaction of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 with dsDNA is significantly higher than that of Mcm2-7 alone (Figure 3.8E).

46



**Figure 3.8:** dsDNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complexes. Incubation of 50 fmol (open squares), 100 fmol (filled circles) and 200 fmol (open circles) double stranded DNA with (A) Mcm2-7 and (B) Mcm2-7•Cdt1. (C) Mcm2-7 (open circles) and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (filled circles) binding curves for 200 fmol dsDNA. (D) The complexes were incubated in the absence of DNA to determine whether the proteins are stable and do not aggregate. (E) Comparison of the peak fraction (fr11) of Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 with 200 fmol of dsDNA with the mean difference in 200 fmol dsDNA binding being significantly different between Mcm2-7 and Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (P<0.05). Each DNA binding experiment was performed in triplicate, the mean has been plotted without error bars for clarity (A-D).

# **Chapter 4 – Discussion**

Cdt1 is an essential component of the preRC and assists ORC and Cdc6 in the assembly of Mcm2-7 onto replication origins, thereby loading the helicase. This study shows that Cdt1 binds and forms a stable complex with Mcm2-7 in the absence of other proteins or post-translational modifications. When in complex with Mcm2-7, Cdt1 modifies the activity of Mcm2-7, making it distinct from Mcm2-7 alone. Mcm2-7•Cdt1 binds dsDNA with higher affinity than Mcm2-7 alone. In addition, Mcm2-7•Cdt1 hydrolyzes ATP and unwinds DNA at significantly lower levels compared to Mcm2-7. These observations reveal a novel role for Cdt1 in regulating the helicase activity of Mcm2-7 once the helicase has been loaded. They also unveil a mechanism that assists Mcm2-7 in dsDNA binding at replication origins.

## 4.1 Spontaneous assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex

In experiments used to reconstitute the pre-replicative complex *in vitro*, Mcm2-7 was purified from G1-arrested cells. In these preparations, Cdt1 was co-purified with Mcm2-7 in the form of Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Remus et al. 2009). This complex was able to support Mcm2-7 loading onto replication origins. When recombinant Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 were purified and added separately, no Mcm2-7 loading onto *ARS1* DNA was observed (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Remus et al. 2009).



**Figure 4.1: Proposed model for Mcm2-7•Cdt1.** (A) Mcm2-7•Cdt1 is targeted onto origins of replication (B) ORC and Cdc6 along with Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complete the preRC by loading Mcm2-7•Cdt1 on dsDNA (Cdt1 is shown as stable but is most likely dynamically associating and dissociating with the complex). (C) Modified Cdt1 and Cdc6 are released from the preRC (D) The release of Cdt1 increases the ATP hydrolysis and DNA helicase activity of the Mcm2-7 complex.

This led to the proposal that Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 may require another factor for complex formation. I tested this hypothesis directly to determine if the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 could form without any other proteins or modifications. I reconstituted the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 from purified proteins which were purified from *E. coli*, and therefore can be considered to be unmodified, and are free of any other *S. cerevisiae* proteins. The reconstitution of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex without the need for any other factors strongly suggests that the assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 can occur spontaneously *in vivo*. Whether every Mcm2-7 is in complex with Cdt1 is unknown. Protein measurements typically indicated more Mcm2-7 compared to Cdt1 molecules per cell (Lei et al. 1996; Edwards et al. 2002, Waga and Zembutsu 2006). However, those measurements were likely performed on asynchronous populations and the fluctuation of these proteins during the cell cycle can alter the results. Recent measurements when specifically looking at Mcm2-7 and Cdt1 have been more in the order of one Mcm2-7 to one Cdt1 (Kawasaki et al. 2006).

#### 4.2 Cdt1 prevents premature DNA unwinding by Mcm2-7

Once loaded, Mcm2-7 remains at origins without unwinding DNA until S-phase commences (Geraghty et al. 2000; Sclafani and Holzen 2007; Evrin et al. 2009). Mcm2-7 however has been shown to have helicase activity *in vitro* without any other factors or modifications (Bochman and Schwacha 2008; Ilves et al. 2008). It would therefore follow that Mcm2-7's inherent helicase activity must be held in check prior to activation during S-phase or improper unwinding will result. Premature DNA unwinding would result in stretches of ssDNA that could potentially lead to dsDNA breaks and genome instability. Genome instability is an indicator of potential tumorigenesis in mammalian cells, therefore preventing any form of genome instability is imperative for cell survival (Fujita 2006).

Studies examining the assembly of the preRC suggested that Cdt1 is released upon helicase loading along with Cdc6 (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Randell et al. 2006). However, in more recent studies on the assembly of the preRC using pure proteins, Cdt1 remains in the preRC (Remus et al. 2009). It has been suggested that Cdt1 is dynamically associated with origins of replication *in vivo* (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Randell et al. 2006; Xouri et al. 2007; Remus et al. 2009). This form of exchange could explain the two disparate observations for Cdt1 in preRC assembly.

Further evidence that Cdt1 remains associated with the preRC is the observation that Cdt1 is important for the recruitment of Cdc45 via an interaction between Cdt1 and Cdc7 (Ballabeni et al. 2009). The Cdt1-Cdc7 interaction not only results in the recruitment of Cdc45 to origins of replication, one of the steps involved in helicase activation, but also in the release of Cdt1 from Mcm2-7 (Ballabeni et al. 2009; Ilves et al. 2010). Cdt1 also appears to be required for DNA damage repair during S-phase (Lydeard et al. 2010).

You and Masai (2008) examined how Cdt1 interacted with Mcm proteins. They found that Cdt1 forms a complex with Mcm2-7 and Mcm4/6/7. The authors focused on the effects of Cdt1 on Mcm4/6/7. In their study, an increase in Mcm4/6/7 helicase activity was observed when in association with Cdt1 (You and Masai 2008). However,

51

they did not determine the effect of Cdt1 on Mcm2-7 due to the inability to form an active helicase with Mcm2-7 and did not pursue the ATP hydrolysis activity (You and Masai 2008). Mcm4/6/7 is not the Mcm complex found at the preRC and therefore activation of Mcm4/6/7 helicase activity by Cdt1 may not accurately recapitulate what occurs *in vivo* in the context of the preRC. These data presented in this thesis show that in the context of the complete Mcm2-7 complex, Cdt1 has an inhibitory role on the helicase activity of the Mcm2-7 complex.

#### 4.3 Cdt1 inhibits ATP hydrolysis by Mcm2-7

Mcm2-7 has the ability to hydrolyze ATP without a DNA substrate (Matson 1986; Arai and Kornberg 1981; Davey et al. 2003). The rate of ATP hydrolysis is halved when Mcm2-7 is in complex with Cdt1. I propose two consequences for the decrease of ATP hydrolysis activity of Mcm2-7 by Cdt1. Firstly, the mechanism of helicase inhibition may be through the decrease in ATP hydrolysis activity by Mcm2-7•Cdt1. Alternatively, but not exclusively, non-functional hydrolysis activity is energetically unfavorable for a cell. There are approximately 30,000 Mcm2-7 complexes that at the catalytic rate determined would hydrolyze approximately 2.5% of total ATP pool per minute. Cdt1 in complex with Mcm2-7 would lower the energetic burden of the cell (Deeds et al. 2007; Lei et al. 1996).

Adding individually prepared Cdt1 to a preformed Mcm2-7 complex did not reconstitute the lower ATP hydrolysis activity seen with Mcm2-7•Cdt1. This could simply be a factor of not achieving high enough concentration of protein to form a

Mcm2-7•Cdt1 (Figure 3.5C). Alternatively, Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex formation may require individual Mcm subunits to interact with Cdt1 to form the functionally distinct Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex. The observation that Cdt1 co-immunoprecipitates with a preformed Mcm2-7 favors the concentration hypothesis due to the higher amount of protein used in immunoprecipitation assays compared to ATP hydrolysis assays (Figure 3.2).

#### 4.4 DNA binding by Mcm2-7•Cdt1

This study demonstrates a higher affinity for dsDNA by Mcm2-7•Cdt1 than by Mcm2-7. In this thesis, the difference between ssDNA and dsDNA binding by Mcm2-7•Cdt1 is about half. Previously, dsDNA binding was shown to be 100-fold lower compared to ssDNA (Bochman and Schwacha 2007). This is in contrast to observations that indicate that Mcm2-7 loads onto dsDNA during preRC assembly (Tanaka and Nasmyth 1998; Dimitrova et al. 1999; Costa and Onesti 2008). The modulation of dsDNA binding activity of Mcm2-7 by Cdt1 may provide Mcm2-7 with the ability to associate with dsDNA, which is required for origin loading.

The increase in dsDNA binding affinity may be through Cdt1 binding to DNA. A study on human Cdt1 has demonstrated that Cdt1 associates with DNA on its own (Yanagi et al. 2002). It could be through Cdt1 that Mcm2-7•Cdt1 binds dsDNA. However, one cannot rule out the possibility that Cdt1 is altering Mcm2-7 DNA binding allosterically.

## 4.5 Model and Conclusions

This study demonstrates that the assembly of the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex occurs without other protein factors or post-translational modifications. The reconstituted Mcm2-7•Cdt1 is functionally distinct from Mcm2-7. Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex has lower ATP hydrolysis activity, thereby diminishing energy loss (Figure 4.1A). The increased dsDNA binding activity helps target Mcm2-7•Cdt1 to origins to form the preRC with ORC and Cdc6 (Figure 4.1B). Mcm2-7 has lower helicase activity while in complex with Cdt1, which prevents unwanted and untimely DNA unwinding (Figure 4.1B). As the cell enters S-phase, CDK and DDK levels rise and modify preRC components causing the release of Cdt1 (Figure 4.1C). Upon dissociation of Cdt1, there is an increase in DNA helicase activity of the Mcm2-7 complex which also requires the association with other factors (Not shown; Figure 4.1D).

It would be interesting to determine how Cdt1 is modulating the dsDNA binding activity. Cdt1 may be directly binding DNA and recruiting Mcm2-7 to DNA or it may be modulating Mcm2-7 to bind DNA directly. One would first need to determine if *S*. *cerevisiae* Cdt1 binds DNA on its own through DNA binding assays such as EMSA. Secondly, if Cdt1 does bind DNA similarly to its mouse homologue, one could do mutational studies to determine the region required for this interaction and determine if mutations change the way that Mcm2-7•Cdt1 binds DNA (Yangani et al. 2002).

The difference between adding Cdt1 in solution to a preformed Mcm2-7 and the Mcm2-7•Cdt1 complex is most likely due to protein concentration. The assembly may

simply be a factor of protein affinity in assay conditions. Less likely, the differences observed may be due to some interacting surface changes during the assembly of the complex. Cdt1 may require the individual Mcm subunits for interaction.

Taken together, the results presented in this thesis indicate a novel role for Cdt1 in DNA replication control. They also begin to shed light on the mechanistic functions of Cdt1 with in the preRC.

## References

Abdelhaleem, M. (2010). Helicases: an overview. Methods Mol. Biol. 587, 1-12.

Alexandrow, M.G., and Hamlin, J.L. (2004). Cdc6 chromatin affinity is unaffected by serine-54 phosphorylation, S-phase progression, and overexpression of cyclin A. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 1614-1627.

Aparicio, O.M., Stout, A.M., and Bell, S.P. (1999). Differential assembly of Cdc45p and DNA polymerases at early and late origins of DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 9130-9135.

Aparicio, O.M., Weinstein, D.M., and Bell, S.P. (1997). Components and dynamics of DNA replication complexes in S. cerevisiae: redistribution of MCM proteins and Cdc45p during S phase. Cell 91, 59-69.

Aparicio, T., Ibarra, A., and Mendez, J. (2006). Cdc45-MCM-GINS, a new power player for DNA replication. Cell. Div. 1, 18.

Arai, K., and Kornberg, A. (1981). Mechanism of dnaB protein action. III. Allosteric role of ATP in the alteration of DNA structure by dnaB protein in priming replication. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 5260-5266.

Araki, H. (2010). Regulatory mechanism of the initiation step of DNA replication by CDK in budding yeast. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1804, 520-523.

Arentson, E., Faloon, P., Seo, J., Moon, E., Studts, J.M., Fremont, D.H., and Choi, K. (2002). Oncogenic potential of the DNA replication licensing protein CDT1. Oncogene 21, 1150-1158.

Arias, E.E., and Walter, J.C. (2006). PCNA functions as a molecular platform to trigger Cdt1 destruction and prevent re-replication. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 84-90.

Audit, B., Zaghloul, L., Vaillant, C., Chevereau, G., d'Aubenton-Carafa, Y., Thermes, C., and Arneodo, A. (2009). Open chromatin encoded in DNA sequence is the signature of 'master' replication origins in human cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 37, 6064-6075.

Bailey, S., Eliason, W.K., and Steitz, T.A. (2007). The crystal structure of the Thermus aquaticus DnaB helicase monomer. Nucleic Acids Res. 35, 4728-4736.

Ballabeni, A., Zamponi, R., Caprara, G., Melixetian, M., Bossi, S., Masiero, L., and Helin, K. (2009). Human CDT1 associates with CDC7 and recruits CDC45 to chromatin during S phase. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 3028-3036.

Bell, S.P. (2002). The origin recognition complex: from simple origins to complex functions. Genes Dev. 16, 659-672.

Bell, S.P., and Dutta, A. (2002). DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 71, 333-374.

Bell, S.P., Kobayashi, R., and Stillman, B. (1993). Yeast origin recognition complex functions in transcription silencing and DNA replication. Science 262, 1844-1849.

Bell, S.P., Marahrens, Y., Rao, H., and Stillman, B. (1993). The replicon model and eukaryotic chromosomes. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 58, 435-442.

Bell, S.P., Mitchell, J., Leber, J., Kobayashi, R., and Stillman, B. (1995). The multidomain structure of Orc1p reveals similarity to regulators of DNA replication and transcriptional silencing. Cell 83, 563-568.

Bell, S.P., and Stillman, B. (1992). ATP-dependent recognition of eukaryotic origins of DNA replication by a multiprotein complex. Nature 357, 128-134.

Binz, S.K., Sheehan, A.M., and Wold, M.S. (2004). Replication protein A phosphorylation and the cellular response to DNA damage. DNA Repair (Amst) 3, 1015-1024.

Blow, J.J., Dilworth, S.M., Dingwall, C., Mills, A.D., and Laskey, R.A. (1987). Chromosome replication in cell-free systems from Xenopus eggs. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 317, 483-494.

Blow, J.J., and Dutta, A. (2005). Preventing re-replication of chromosomal DNA. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6, 476-486.

Bochman, M.L., Bell, S.P., and Schwacha, A. (2008). Subunit organization of Mcm2-7 and the unequal role of active sites in ATP hydrolysis and viability. Mol. Cell. Biol. 28, 5865-5873.

Bochman, M.L., and Schwacha, A. (2010). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Mcm6/2 and Mcm5/3 ATPase active sites contribute to the function of the putative Mcm2-7 'gate'. Nucleic Acids Res.

Bochman, M.L., and Schwacha, A. (2009). The Mcm complex: unwinding the mechanism of a replicative helicase. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 73, 652-683.

Bochman, M.L., and Schwacha, A. (2008). The Mcm2-7 complex has in vitro helicase activity. Mol. Cell 31, 287-293.

Bochman, M.L., and Schwacha, A. (2007). Differences in the single-stranded DNA binding activities of MCM2-7 and MCM467: MCM2 and MCM5 define a slow ATP-dependent step. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 33795-33804.

Bowers, J.L., Randell, J.C., Chen, S., and Bell, S.P. (2004). ATP hydrolysis by ORC catalyzes reiterative Mcm2-7 assembly at a defined origin of replication. Mol. Cell 16, 967-978.

Braun, K.A., and Breeden, L.L. (2007). Nascent transcription of MCM2-7 is important for nuclear localization of the minichromosome maintenance complex in G1. Mol. Biol. Cell 18, 1447-1456.

Broek, D., Bartlett, R., Crawford, K., and Nurse, P. (1991). Involvement of p34cdc2 in establishing the dependency of S phase on mitosis. Nature 349, 388-393.

Burkhart, B.A., Hebbar, P.B., Trotter, K.W., and Archer, T.K. (2005). Chromatindependent E1A activity modulates NF-kappaB RelA-mediated repression of glucocorticoid receptor-dependent transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 6349-6358.

Callebaut, I., Courvalin, J.C., and Mornon, J.P. (1999). The BAH (bromo-adjacent homology) domain: a link between DNA methylation, replication and transcriptional regulation. FEBS Lett. 446, 189-193.

Cannon, R.D., Jenkinson, H.F., and Shepherd, M.G. (1990). Isolation and nucleotide sequence of an autonomously replicating sequence (ARS) element functional in Candida albicans and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Gen. Genet. 221, 210-218.

Carpenter, P.B., Mueller, P.R., and Dunphy, W.G. (1996). Role for a Xenopus Orc2related protein in controlling DNA replication. Nature 379, 357-360.

Cayrou, C., Coulombe, P., and Mechali, M. (2010). Programming DNA replication origins and chromosome organization. Chromosome Res. 18, 137-145.

Chakraborty, T., Yoshinaga, K., Lother, H., and Messer, W. (1982). Purification of the E. coli dnaA gene product. EMBO J. 1, 1545-1549.

Chong, J.P., Hayashi, M.K., Simon, M.N., Xu, R.M., and Stillman, B. (2000). A doublehexamer archaeal minichromosome maintenance protein is an ATP-dependent DNA helicase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 1530-1535.

Chuang, R.Y., and Kelly, T.J. (1999). The fission yeast homologue of Orc4p binds to replication origin DNA via multiple AT-hooks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 2656-2661.

Clyne, R.K., and Kelly, T.J. (1995). Genetic analysis of an ARS element from the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. EMBO J. 14, 6348-6357.

Cocker, J.H., Piatti, S., Santocanale, C., Nasmyth, K., and Diffley, J.F. (1996). An essential role for the Cdc6 protein in forming the pre-replicative complexes of budding yeast. Nature 379, 180-182.

Coleman, J.E., and Oakley, J.L. (1980). Physical chemical studies of the structure and function of DNA binding (helix-destabilizing) proteins. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 7, 247-289.

Coleman, T.R., Carpenter, P.B., and Dunphy, W.G. (1996). The Xenopus Cdc6 protein is essential for the initiation of a single round of DNA replication in cell-free extracts. Cell 87, 53-63.

Collins, N., Poot, R.A., Kukimoto, I., Garcia-Jimenez, C., Dellaire, G., and Varga-Weisz, P.D. (2002). An ACF1-ISWI chromatin-remodeling complex is required for DNA replication through heterochromatin. Nat. Genet. 32, 627-632.

Cook, J.G., Chasse, D.A., and Nevins, J.R. (2004). The regulated association of Cdt1 with minichromosome maintenance proteins and Cdc6 in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 9625-9633.

Costa, A., van Duinen, G., Medagli, B., Chong, J., Sakakibara, N., Kelman, Z., Nair, S.K., Patwardhan, A., and Onesti, S. (2008). Cryo-electron microscopy reveals a novel DNA-binding site on the MCM helicase. EMBO J. 27, 2250-2258.

Crevel, G., Hashimoto, R., Vass, S., Sherkow, J., Yamaguchi, M., Heck, M.M., and Cotterill, S. (2007). Differential requirements for MCM proteins in DNA replication in Drosophila S2 cells. PLoS One 2, e833.

Crevel, G., Mathe, E., and Cotterill, S. (2005). The Drosophila Cdc6/18 protein has functions in both early and late S phase in S2 cells. J. Cell. Sci. 118, 2451-2459.
Dahmann, C., Diffley, J.F., and Nasmyth, K.A. (1995). S-phase-promoting cyclindependent kinases prevent re-replication by inhibiting the transition of replication origins to a pre-replicative state. Curr. Biol. 5, 1257-1269.

Davey, M.J., Indiani, C., and O'Donnell, M. (2003). Reconstitution of the Mcm2-7p heterohexamer, subunit arrangement, and ATP site architecture. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 4491-4499.

De Vlaminck, I., Vidic, I., van Loenhout, M.T., Kanaar, R., Lebbink, J.H., and Dekker, C. (2010). Torsional regulation of hRPA-induced unwinding of double-stranded DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, 4133-4142.

Deeds, E.J., Ashenberg, O., Gerardin, J., and Shakhnovich, E.I. (2007). Robust protein protein interactions in crowded cellular environments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 14952-14957.

Delmolino, L.M., Saha, P., and Dutta, A. (2001). Multiple mechanisms regulate subcellular localization of human CDC6. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 26947-26954.

Devault, A., Gueydon, E., and Schwob, E. (2008). Interplay between S-cyclin-dependent kinase and Dbf4-dependent kinase in controlling DNA replication through phosphorylation of yeast Mcm4 N-terminal domain. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 2267-2277.

Devault, A., Vallen, E.A., Yuan, T., Green, S., Bensimon, A., and Schwob, E. (2002). Identification of Tah11/Sid2 as the ortholog of the replication licensing factor Cdt1 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Curr. Biol. 12, 689-694.

Diffley, J.F. (2001). DNA replication: building the perfect switch. Curr. Biol. 11, R367-70.

Diffley, J.F., and Cocker, J.H. (1992). Protein-DNA interactions at a yeast replication origin. Nature 357, 169-172.

Diffley, J.F., Cocker, J.H., Dowell, S.J., Harwood, J., and Rowley, A. (1995). Stepwise assembly of initiation complexes at budding yeast replication origins during the cell cycle. J. Cell Sci. Suppl. 19, 67-72.

Diffley, J.F., Cocker, J.H., Dowell, S.J., and Rowley, A. (1994). Two steps in the assembly of complexes at yeast replication origins in vivo. Cell 78, 303-316.

Dijkwel, P.A., Wang, S., and Hamlin, J.L. (2002). Initiation sites are distributed at frequent intervals in the Chinese hamster dihydrofolate reductase origin of replication but are used with very different efficiencies. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22, 3053-3065.

Dimitrova, D.S., Todorov, I.T., Melendy, T., and Gilbert, D.M. (1999). Mcm2, but not RPA, is a component of the mammalian early G1-phase prereplication complex. J. Cell Biol. 146, 709-722.

Donmez, I., and Patel, S.S. (2006). Mechanisms of a ring shaped helicase. Nucleic Acids Res. 34, 4216-4224.

Donovan, S., Harwood, J., Drury, L.S., and Diffley, J.F. (1997). Cdc6p-dependent loading of Mcm proteins onto pre-replicative chromatin in budding yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 5611-5616.

Drury, L.S., Perkins, G., and Diffley, J.F. (2000). The cyclin-dependent kinase Cdc28p regulates distinct modes of Cdc6p proteolysis during the budding yeast cell cycle. Curr. Biol. 10, 231-240.

Dubey, D.D., Zhu, J., Carlson, D.L., Sharma, K., and Huberman, J.A. (1994). Three ARS elements contribute to the ura4 replication origin region in the fission yeast, Schizosaccharomyces pombe. EMBO J. 13, 3638-3647.

Edwards, M.C., Tutter, A.V., Cvetic, C., Gilbert, C.H., Prokhorova, T.A., and Walter, J.C. (2002). MCM2-7 complexes bind chromatin in a distributed pattern surrounding the origin recognition complex in Xenopus egg extracts. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 33049-33057.

Evrin, C., Clarke, P., Zech, J., Lurz, R., Sun, J., Uhle, S., Li, H., Stillman, B., and Speck, C. (2009). A double-hexameric MCM2-7 complex is loaded onto origin DNA during licensing of eukaryotic DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 20240-20245.

Falaschi, A., Abdurashidova, G., and Biamonti, G. (2010). DNA replication, development and cancer: a homeotic connection? Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 45, 14-22.

Feng, H., and Kipreos, E.T. (2003). Preventing DNA re-replication--divergent safeguards in yeast and metazoa. Cell. Cycle 2, 431-434.

Field, Y., Kaplan, N., Fondufe-Mittendorf, Y., Moore, I.K., Sharon, E., Lubling, Y., Widom, J., and Segal, E. (2008). Distinct modes of regulation by chromatin encoded through nucleosome positioning signals. PLoS Comput. Biol. 4, e1000216.

Filner, P. (1965). Semi-conservative replication of DNA in a higher plant cell. Exp. Cell Res. 39, 33-39.

Fletcher, R.J., Bishop, B.E., Leon, R.P., Sclafani, R.A., Ogata, C.M., and Chen, X.S. (2003). The structure and function of MCM from archaeal M. Thermoautotrophicum. Nat. Struct. Biol. 10, 160-167.

Forsburg, S.L. (2004). Eukaryotic MCM proteins: beyond replication initiation. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 68, 109-131.

Foss, M., McNally, F.J., Laurenson, P., and Rine, J. (1993). Origin recognition complex (ORC) in transcriptional silencing and DNA replication in S. cerevisiae. Science 262, 1838-1844.

Fox, C.A., Loo, S., Dillin, A., and Rine, J. (1995). The origin recognition complex has essential functions in transcriptional silencing and chromosomal replication. Genes Dev. 9, 911-924.

Francis, L.I., Randell, J.C., Takara, T.J., Uchima, L., and Bell, S.P. (2009). Incorporation into the prereplicative complex activates the Mcm2-7 helicase for Cdc7-Dbf4 phosphorylation. Genes Dev. 23, 643-654.

Fujita, M. (2006). Cdt1 revisited: complex and tight regulation during the cell cycle and consequences of deregulation in mammalian cells. Cell. Div. 1, 22.

Fujita, M. (1999). Identification of new sigma K-dependent promoters using an in vitro transcription system derived from Bacillus subtilis. Gene 237, 45-52.

Fujita, M., Ishimi, Y., Nakamura, H., Kiyono, T., and Tsurumi, T. (2002). Nuclear organization of DNA replication initiation proteins in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 10354-10361.

Gambus, A., Jones, R.C., Sanchez-Diaz, A., Kanemaki, M., van Deursen, F., Edmondson, R.D., and Labib, K. (2006). GINS maintains association of Cdc45 with MCM in replisome progression complexes at eukaryotic DNA replication forks. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 358-366.

Ge, X.Q., Jackson, D.A., and Blow, J.J. (2007). Dormant origins licensed by excess Mcm2-7 are required for human cells to survive replicative stress. Genes Dev. 21, 3331-3341.

Geraghty, D.S., Ding, M., Heintz, N.H., and Pederson, D.S. (2000). Premature structural changes at replication origins in a yeast minichromosome maintenance (MCM) mutant. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 18011-18021.

Ghaemmaghami, S., Huh, W.K., Bower, K., Howson, R.W., Belle, A., Dephoure, N., O'Shea, E.K., and Weissman, J.S. (2003). Global analysis of protein expression in yeast. Nature 425, 737-741.

Gossen, M., Pak, D.T., Hansen, S.K., Acharya, J.K., and Botchan, M.R. (1995). A Drosophila homolog of the yeast origin recognition complex. Science 270, 1674-1677.

Hemerly, A.S., Prasanth, S.G., Siddiqui, K., and Stillman, B. (2009). Orc1 controls centriole and centrosome copy number in human cells. Science 323, 789-793.

Hodgson, B., Li, A., Tada, S., and Blow, J.J. (2002). Geminin becomes activated as an inhibitor of Cdt1/RLF-B following nuclear import. Curr. Biol. 12, 678-683.

Hoffmann-Berling, H. (1982). DNA unwinding enzymes. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 102 Pt C, 89-98.

Hofmann, J.F., and Beach, D. (1994). cdt1 is an essential target of the Cdc10/Sct1 transcription factor: requirement for DNA replication and inhibition of mitosis. EMBO J. 13, 425-434.

Honey, S., and Futcher, B. (2007). Roles of the CDK phosphorylation sites of yeast Cdc6 in chromatin binding and rereplication. Mol. Biol. Cell 18, 1324-1336.

Howard and Pelc 1951 Howard, A. & Pelc, S.R. (1951) Nuclear incorporation of 32P as demonstrated by autoradiographs. Exp. Cell Res., 2, 178–187.

Hu, H.G., Baack, M., and Knippers, R. (2009). Proteins of the origin recognition complex (ORC) and DNA topoisomerases on mammalian chromatin. BMC Mol. Biol. 10, 36.

Huberman, J.A., and Riggs, A.D. (1966). Autoradiography of chromosomal DNA fibers from Chinese hamster cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 55, 599-606.

Ibarra, A., Schwob, E., and Mendez, J. (2008). Excess MCM proteins protect human cells from replicative stress by licensing backup origins of replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 8956-8961.

Ilves, I., Petojevic, T., Pesavento, J.J., and Botchan, M.R. (2010). Activation of the MCM2-7 helicase by association with Cdc45 and GINS proteins. Mol. Cell 37, 247-258.

Ishimi, Y. (1997). A DNA helicase activity is associated with an MCM4, -6, and -7 protein complex. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 24508-24513.

Jee, J., Mizuno, T., Kamada, K., Tochio, H., Chiba, Y., Yanagi, K., Yasuda, G., Hiroaki, H., Hanaoka, F., and Shirakawa, M. (2010). Structure and mutagenesis studies of the C-terminal region of licensing factor Cdt1 enable the identification of key residues for binding to replicative helicase Mcm proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 15931-15940.

Jiang, W., Wells, N.J., and Hunter, T. (1999). Multistep regulation of DNA replication by Cdk phosphorylation of HsCdc6. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 6193-6198.

Jin, J., Arias, E.E., Chen, J., Harper, J.W., and Walter, J.C. (2006). A family of diverse Cul4-Ddb1-interacting proteins includes Cdt2, which is required for S phase destruction of the replication factor Cdt1. Mol. Cell 23, 709-721.

Kanter, D.M., Bruck, I., and Kaplan, D.L. (2008). Mcm subunits can assemble into two different active unwinding complexes. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 31172-31182.

Kawakami, H., and Katayama, T. (2010). DnaA, ORC, and Cdc6: similarity beyond the domains of life and diversity. Biochem. Cell Biol. 88, 49-62.

Kawarabayasi, Y., Hino, Y., Horikawa, H., Jin-no, K., Takahashi, M., Sekine, M., Baba, S., Ankai, A., Kosugi, H., Hosoyama, A., et al. (2001). Complete genome sequence of an aerobic thermoacidophilic crenarchaeon, Sulfolobus tokodaii strain7. DNA Res. 8, 123-140.

Kawasaki, Y., Kim, H.D., Kojima, A., Seki, T., and Sugino, A. (2006). Reconstitution of Saccharomyces cerevisiae prereplicative complex assembly in vitro. Genes Cells 11, 745-756.

Kelman, Z., Lee, J.K., and Hurwitz, J. (1999). The single minichromosome maintenance protein of Methanobacterium thermoautotrophicum DeltaH contains DNA helicase activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 14783-14788.

Keshav, K.F., Chen, C., and Dutta, A. (1995). Rpa4, a homolog of the 34-kilodalton subunit of the replication protein A complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 3119-3128.

Khorasanizadeh, S. (2004). The nucleosome: from genomic organization to genomic regulation. Cell 116, 259-272.

Kihara, M., Nakai, W., Asano, S., Suzuki, A., Kitada, K., Kawasaki, Y., Johnston, L.H., and Sugino, A. (2000). Characterization of the yeast Cdc7p/Dbf4p complex purified from

insect cells. Its protein kinase activity is regulated by Rad53p. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 35051-35062.

Kim, J., Feng, H., and Kipreos, E.T. (2007). C. elegans CUL-4 prevents rereplication by promoting the nuclear export of CDC-6 via a CKI-1-dependent pathway. Curr. Biol. 17, 966-972.

Kim, S.M., and Huberman, J.A. (1998). Multiple orientation-dependent, synergistically interacting, similar domains in the ribosomal DNA replication origin of the fission yeast, Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 7294-7303.

Kim, Y., and Kipreos, E.T. (2007). Cdt1 degradation to prevent DNA re-replication: conserved and non-conserved pathways. Cell. Div. 2, 18.

Kitsberg, D., Selig, S., Keshet, I., and Cedar, H. (1993). Replication structure of the human beta-globin gene domain. Nature 366, 588-590.

Klemm, R.D., Austin, R.J., and Bell, S.P. (1997). Coordinate binding of ATP and origin DNA regulates the ATPase activity of the origin recognition complex. Cell 88, 493-502.

Kominami, K., and Toda, T. (1997). Fission yeast WD-repeat protein pop1 regulates genome ploidy through ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation of the CDK inhibitor Rum1 and the S-phase initiator Cdc18. Genes Dev. 11, 1548-1560.

Kong, D., and DePamphilis, M.L. (2001). Site-specific DNA binding of the Schizosaccharomyces pombe origin recognition complex is determined by the Orc4 subunit. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 8095-8103.

Labib, K. (2010). How do Cdc7 and cyclin-dependent kinases trigger the initiation of chromosome replication in eukaryotic cells? Genes Dev. 24, 1208-1219.

Labib, K., Diffley, J.F., and Kearsey, S.E. (1999). G1-phase and B-type cyclins exclude the DNA-replication factor Mcm4 from the nucleus. Nat. Cell Biol. 1, 415-422.

Labib, K., and Gambus, A. (2007). A key role for the GINS complex at DNA replication forks. Trends Cell Biol. 17, 271-278.

Laskey, R.A., and Madine, M.A. (2003). A rotary pumping model for helicase function of MCM proteins at a distance from replication forks. EMBO Rep. 4, 26-30.

Lau, E., Tsuji, T., Guo, L., Lu, S.H., and Jiang, W. (2007). The role of pre-replicative complex (pre-RC) components in oncogenesis. FASEB J. 21, 3786-3794.

Lee, J.K., and Hurwitz, J. (2001). Processive DNA helicase activity of the minichromosome maintenance proteins 4, 6, and 7 complex requires forked DNA structures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 54-59.

Lee, J.K., and Hurwitz, J. (2000). Isolation and characterization of various complexes of the minichromosome maintenance proteins of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 18871-18878.

Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., and Tye, B.K. (1996). Physical interactions among Mcm proteins and effects of Mcm dosage on DNA replication in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 5081-5090.

Lei, M., Kawasaki, Y., Young, M.R., Kihara, M., Sugino, A., and Tye, B.K. (1997). Mcm2 is a target of regulation by Cdc7-Dbf4 during the initiation of DNA synthesis. Genes Dev. 11, 3365-3374.

Lei, M., and Tye, B.K. (2001). Initiating DNA synthesis: from recruiting to activating the MCM complex. J. Cell. Sci. 114, 1447-1454.

Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (1998). Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 396, 643-649.

Li, J.J., and Herskowitz, I. (1993). Isolation of ORC6, a component of the yeast origin recognition complex by a one-hybrid system. Science 262, 1870-1874.

Li, X., Zhao, Q., Liao, R., Sun, P., and Wu, X. (2003). The SCF(Skp2) ubiquitin ligase complex interacts with the human replication licensing factor Cdt1 and regulates Cdt1 degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 30854-30858.

Lin, D.I., Aggarwal, P., and Diehl, J.A. (2008). Phosphorylation of MCM3 on Ser-112 regulates its incorporation into the MCM2-7 complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 8079-8084.

Liontos, M., Koutsami, M., Sideridou, M., Evangelou, K., Kletsas, D., Levy, B., Kotsinas, A., Nahum, O., Zoumpourlis, V., Kouloukoussa, M., et al. (2007). Deregulated overexpression of hCdt1 and hCdc6 promotes malignant behavior. Cancer Res. 67, 10899-10909.

Lisziewicz, J., Godany, A., Agoston, D.V., and Kuntzel, H. (1988). Cloning and characterization of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae CDC6 gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 16, 11507-11520.

Liu, E., Lee, A.Y., Chiba, T., Olson, E., Sun, P., and Wu, X. (2007). The ATR-mediated S phase checkpoint prevents rereplication in mammalian cells when licensing control is disrupted. J. Cell Biol. 179, 643-657.

Liu, E., Li, X., Yan, F., Zhao, Q., and Wu, X. (2004). Cyclin-dependent kinases phosphorylate human Cdt1 and induce its degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 17283-17288.

Loo, S., Fox, C.A., Rine, J., Kobayashi, R., Stillman, B., and Bell, S. (1995). The origin recognition complex in silencing, cell cycle progression, and DNA replication. Mol. Biol. Cell 6, 741-756.

Luo, K.Q., Elsasser, S., Chang, D.C., and Campbell, J.L. (2003). Regulation of the localization and stability of Cdc6 in living yeast cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 306, 851-859.

Lydeard, J.R., Lipkin-Moore, Z., Sheu, Y.J., Stillman, B., Burgers, P.M., and Haber, J.E. (2010). Break-induced replication requires all essential DNA replication factors except those specific for pre-RC assembly. Genes Dev. 24, 1133-1144.

MacAlpine, D.M., Rodriguez, H.K., and Bell, S.P. (2004). Coordination of replication and transcription along a Drosophila chromosome. Genes Dev. 18, 3094-3105.

MacAlpine, H.K., Gordan, R., Powell, S.K., Hartemink, A.J., and MacAlpine, D.M. (2010). Drosophila ORC localizes to open chromatin and marks sites of cohesin complex loading. Genome Res. 20, 201-211.

Machida, Y.J., Hamlin, J.L., and Dutta, A. (2005). Right place, right time, and only once: replication initiation in metazoans. Cell 123, 13-24.

MacNeill, S.A. (2010). Structure and function of the GINS complex, a key component of the eukaryotic replisome. Biochem. J. 425, 489-500.

Maiorano, D., Moreau, J., and Mechali, M. (2000). XCDT1 is required for the assembly of pre-replicative complexes in Xenopus laevis. Nature 404, 622-625.

Marahrens, Y., and Stillman, B. (1992). A yeast chromosomal origin of DNA replication defined by multiple functional elements. Science 255, 817-823.

Marsh, R.C., and Worcel, A. (1977). A DNA fragment containing the origin of replication of the Escherichia coli chromosome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 74, 2720-2724.

Masumoto, H., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y., and Araki, H. (2002). S-Cdk-dependent phosphorylation of Sld2 essential for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. Nature 415, 651-655.

Matson, S.W. (1986). Escherichia coli helicase II (urvD gene product) translocates unidirectionally in a 3' to 5' direction. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 10169-10175.

McGarry, T.J., and Kirschner, M.W. (1998). Geminin, an inhibitor of DNA replication, is degraded during mitosis. Cell 93, 1043-1053.

McNairn, A.J., Okuno, Y., Misteli, T., and Gilbert, D.M. (2005). Chinese hamster ORC subunits dynamically associate with chromatin throughout the cell-cycle. Exp. Cell Res. 308, 345-356.

Meijer, M., Beck, E., Hansen, F.G., Bergmans, H.E., Messer, W., von Meyenburg, K., and Schaller, H. (1979). Nucleotide sequence of the origin of replication of the Escherichia coli K-12 chromosome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 76, 580-584.

Mendez, J., Zou-Yang, X.H., Kim, S.Y., Hidaka, M., Tansey, W.P., and Stillman, B. (2002). Human origin recognition complex large subunit is degraded by ubiquitinmediated proteolysis after initiation of DNA replication. Mol. Cell 9, 481-491.

Messer, W., Meijer, M., Bergmans, H.E., Hansen, F.G., von Meyenburg, K., Beck, E., and Schaller, H. (1979). Origin of replication, oriC, of the Escherichia coli K12 chromosome: nucleotide sequence. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 43 Pt 1, 139-145.

Micklem, G., Rowley, A., Harwood, J., Nasmyth, K., and Diffley, J.F. (1993). Yeast origin recognition complex is involved in DNA replication and transcriptional silencing. Nature 366, 87-89.

Mimura, S., Seki, T., Tanaka, S., and Diffley, J.F. (2004). Phosphorylation-dependent binding of mitotic cyclins to Cdc6 contributes to DNA replication control. Nature 431, 1118-1123.

Mitra, S., and Kornberg, A. (1966). Enzymatic mechanisms of DNA replication. J. Gen. Physiol. 49, 59-79.

Mizushima, T., Takahashi, N., and Stillman, B. (2000). Cdc6p modulates the structure and DNA binding activity of the origin recognition complex in vitro. Genes Dev. 14, 1631-1641.

Moon, K.Y., Kong, D., Lee, J.K., Raychaudhuri, S., and Hurwitz, J. (1999). Identification and reconstitution of the origin recognition complex from Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 12367-12372.

Moyer, S.E., Lewis, P.W., and Botchan, M.R. (2006). Isolation of the Cdc45/Mcm2-7/GINS (CMG) complex, a candidate for the eukaryotic DNA replication fork helicase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 10236-10241.

Muller, P., Park, S., Shor, E., Huebert, D.J., Warren, C.L., Ansari, A.Z., Weinreich, M., Eaton, M.L., MacAlpine, D.M., and Fox, C.A. (2010). The conserved bromo-adjacent homology domain of yeast Orc1 functions in the selection of DNA replication origins within chromatin. Genes Dev. 24, 1418-1433.

Muramatsu, S., Hirai, K., Tak, Y.S., Kamimura, Y., and Araki, H. (2010). CDKdependent complex formation between replication proteins Dpb11, Sld2, Pol (epsilon), and GINS in budding yeast. Genes Dev. 24, 602-612.

Muzi-Falconi, M., and Kelly, T.J. (1995). Orp1, a member of the Cdc18/Cdc6 family of S-phase regulators, is homologous to a component of the origin recognition complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 12475-12479.

Natale, D.A., Li, C.J., Sun, W.H., and DePamphilis, M.L. (2000). Selective instability of Orc1 protein accounts for the absence of functional origin recognition complexes during the M-G(1) transition in mammals. EMBO J. 19, 2728-2738.

Nguyen, V.Q., Co, C., Irie, K., and Li, J.J. (2000). Clb/Cdc28 kinases promote nuclear export of the replication initiator proteins Mcm2-7. Curr. Biol. 10, 195-205.

Nishitani, H., Lygerou, Z., and Nishimoto, T. (2004). Proteolysis of DNA replication licensing factor Cdt1 in S-phase is performed independently of geminin through its N-terminal region. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 30807-30816.

Nishitani, H., Lygerou, Z., Nishimoto, T., and Nurse, P. (2000). The Cdt1 protein is required to license DNA for replication in fission yeast. Nature 404, 625-628.

Nishitani, H., Sugimoto, N., Roukos, V., Nakanishi, Y., Saijo, M., Obuse, C., Tsurimoto, T., Nakayama, K.I., Nakayama, K., Fujita, M., Lygerou, Z., and Nishimoto, T. (2006). Two E3 ubiquitin ligases, SCF-Skp2 and DDB1-Cul4, target human Cdt1 for proteolysis. EMBO J. 25, 1126-1136. Nishitani, H., Taraviras, S., Lygerou, Z., and Nishimoto, T. (2001). The human licensing factor for DNA replication Cdt1 accumulates in G1 and is destabilized after initiation of S-phase. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 44905-44911.

Noguchi, K., Vassilev, A., Ghosh, S., Yates, J.L., and DePamphilis, M.L. (2006). The BAH domain facilitates the ability of human Orc1 protein to activate replication origins in vivo. EMBO J. 25, 5372-5382.

Norbury, C., and Nurse, P. (1990). Controls of cell proliferation in yeast and animals. Ciba found. Symp. 150, 168-77; discussion 177-83.

Oehlmann, M., Score, A.J., and Blow, J.J. (2004). The role of Cdc6 in ensuring complete genome licensing and S phase checkpoint activation. J. Cell Biol. 165, 181-190.

Okuno, Y., Okazaki, T., and Masukata, H. (1997). Identification of a predominant replication origin in fission yeast. Nucleic Acids Res. 25, 530-537.

Oshiro, G., Owens, J.C., Shellman, Y., Sclafani, R.A., and Li, J.J. (1999). Cell cycle control of Cdc7p kinase activity through regulation of Dbf4p stability. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19, 4888-4896.

Pacek, M., Tutter, A.V., Kubota, Y., Takisawa, H., and Walter, J.C. (2006). Localization of MCM2-7, Cdc45, and GINS to the site of DNA unwinding during eukaryotic DNA replication. Mol. Cell 21, 581-587.

Pacek, M., and Walter, J.C. (2004). A requirement for MCM7 and Cdc45 in chromosome unwinding during eukaryotic DNA replication. EMBO J. 23, 3667-3676.

Palacios DeBeer, M.A., and Fox, C.A. (1999). A role for a replicator dominance mechanism in silencing. EMBO J. 18, 3808-3819.

Perkins, G., and Diffley, J.F. (1998). Nucleotide-dependent prereplicative complex assembly by Cdc6p, a homolog of eukaryotic and prokaryotic clamp-loaders. Mol. Cell 2, 23-32.

Petersen, B.O., Lukas, J., Sorensen, C.S., Bartek, J., and Helin, K. (1999). Phosphorylation of mammalian CDC6 by cyclin A/CDK2 regulates its subcellular localization. EMBO J. 18, 396-410.

Petes, T.D., Newlon, C.S., Byers, B., and Fangman, W.L. (1974). Yeast chromosomal DNA: size, structure, and replication. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 38, 9-16.

Petropoulou, C., Kotantaki, P., Karamitros, D., and Taraviras, S. (2008). Cdt1 and Geminin in cancer: markers or triggers of malignant transformation? Front. Biosci. 13, 4485-4494.

Piatti, S., Bohm, T., Cocker, J.H., Diffley, J.F., and Nasmyth, K. (1996). Activation of Sphase-promoting CDKs in late G1 defines a "point of no return" after which Cdc6 synthesis cannot promote DNA replication in yeast. Genes Dev. 10, 1516-1531.

Quintana, D.G., Hou, Z., Thome, K.C., Hendricks, M., Saha, P., and Dutta, A. (1997). Identification of HsORC4, a member of the human origin of replication recognition complex. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 28247-28251.

Raghuraman, M.K., Winzeler, E.A., Collingwood, D., Hunt, S., Wodicka, L., Conway, A., Lockhart, D.J., Davis, R.W., Brewer, B.J., and Fangman, W.L. (2001). Replication dynamics of the yeast genome. Science 294, 115-121.

Randell, J.C., Bowers, J.L., Rodriguez, H.K., and Bell, S.P. (2006). Sequential ATP hydrolysis by Cdc6 and ORC directs loading of the Mcm2-7 helicase. Mol. Cell 21, 29-39.

Rao, P.N., and Johnson, R.T. (1970). Mammalian cell fusion: studies on the regulation of DNA synthesis and mitosis. Nature 225, 159-164.

Remus, D., Beuron, F., Tolun, G., Griffith, J.D., Morris, E.P., and Diffley, J.F. (2009). Concerted loading of Mcm2-7 double hexamers around DNA during DNA replication origin licensing. Cell 139, 719-730.

Ritzi, M., Tillack, K., Gerhardt, J., Ott, E., Humme, S., Kremmer, E., Hammerschmidt, W., and Schepers, A. (2003). Complex protein-DNA dynamics at the latent origin of DNA replication of Epstein-Barr virus. J. Cell. Sci. 116, 3971-3984.

Romanowski, P., Madine, M.A., Rowles, A., Blow, J.J., and Laskey, R.A. (1996). The Xenopus origin recognition complex is essential for DNA replication and MCM binding to chromatin. Curr. Biol. 6, 1416-1425.

Rusche, L.N., and Rine, J. (2001). Conversion of a gene-specific repressor to a regional silencer. Genes Dev. 15, 955-967.

Saha, P., Chen, J., Thome, K.C., Lawlis, S.J., Hou, Z.H., Hendricks, M., Parvin, J.D., and Dutta, A. (1998). Human CDC6/Cdc18 associates with Orc1 and cyclin-cdk and is selectively eliminated from the nucleus at the onset of S phase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 2758-2767.

Sasaki, T., and Gilbert, D.M. (2007). The many faces of the origin recognition complex. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 19, 337-343.

Schwacha, A., and Bell, S.P. (2001). Interactions between two catalytically distinct MCM subgroups are essential for coordinated ATP hydrolysis and DNA replication. Mol. Cell 8, 1093-1104.

Sclafani, R.A., and Holzen, T.M. (2007). Cell cycle regulation of DNA replication. Annu. Rev. Genet. 41, 237-280.

Seki, T., and Diffley, J.F. (2000). Stepwise assembly of initiation proteins at budding yeast replication origins in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 14115-14120.

Sharp, J.A., Krawitz, D.C., Gardner, K.A., Fox, C.A., and Kaufman, P.D. (2003). The budding yeast silencing protein Sir1 is a functional component of centromeric chromatin. Genes Dev. 17, 2356-2361.

Smith, J.A., and Martin, L. (1973). Do cells cycle? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 70, 1263-1267.

Snyder, M., He, W., and Zhang, J.J. (2005). The DNA replication factor MCM5 is essential for Stat1-mediated transcriptional activation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 14539-14544.

Snyder, M., Huang, X.Y., and Zhang, J.J. (2009). The minichromosome maintenance proteins 2-7 (MCM2-7) are necessary for RNA polymerase II (Pol II)-mediated transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 13466-13472.

Speck, C., Chen, Z., Li, H., and Stillman, B. (2005). ATPase-dependent cooperative binding of ORC and Cdc6 to origin DNA. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12, 965-971.

Stead, B.E., Sorbara, C.D., Brandl, C.J., and Davey, M.J. (2009). ATP binding and hydrolysis by Mcm2 regulate DNA binding by Mcm complexes. J. Mol. Biol. 391, 301-313.

Stillman, B., Bell, S.P., Dutta, A., and Marahrens, Y. (1992). DNA replication and the cell cycle. Ciba found. Symp. 170, 147-56; discussion 156-60.

Sugimoto, N., Kitabayashi, I., Osano, S., Tatsumi, Y., Yugawa, T., Narisawa-Saito, M., Matsukage, A., Kiyono, T., and Fujita, M. (2008). Identification of novel human Cdt1binding proteins by a proteomics approach: proteolytic regulation by APC/CCdh1. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 1007-1021. Sugimoto, N., Yoshida, K., Tatsumi, Y., Yugawa, T., Narisawa-Saito, M., Waga, S., Kiyono, T., and Fujita, M. (2009). Redundant and differential regulation of multiple licensing factors ensures prevention of re-replication in normal human cells. J. Cell. Sci. 122, 1184-1191.

Sutton, A., Heller, R.C., Landry, J., Choy, J.S., Sirko, A., and Sternglanz, R. (2001). A novel form of transcriptional silencing by Sum1-1 requires Hst1 and the origin recognition complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 3514-3522.

Takahashi, T.S., Wigley, D.B., and Walter, J.C. (2005). Pumps, paradoxes and ploughshares: mechanism of the MCM2-7 DNA helicase. Trends Biochem. Sci. 30, 437-444.

Takayama, Y., Kamimura, Y., Okawa, M., Muramatsu, S., Sugino, A., and Araki, H. (2003). GINS, a novel multiprotein complex required for chromosomal DNA replication in budding yeast. Genes Dev. 17, 1153-1165.

Tanaka, S., and Diffley, J.F. (2002). Interdependent nuclear accumulation of budding yeast Cdt1 and Mcm2-7 during G1 phase. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, 198-207.

Tanaka, S., Umemori, T., Hirai, K., Muramatsu, S., Kamimura, Y., and Araki, H. (2007). CDK-dependent phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 initiates DNA replication in budding yeast. Nature 445, 328-332.

Tanaka, T., Knapp, D., and Nasmyth, K. (1997). Loading of an Mcm protein onto DNA replication origins is regulated by Cdc6p and CDKs. Cell 90, 649-660.

Tatsumi, Y., Sugimoto, N., Yugawa, T., Narisawa-Saito, M., Kiyono, T., and Fujita, M. (2006). Deregulation of Cdt1 induces chromosomal damage without rereplication and leads to chromosomal instability. J. Cell. Sci. 119, 3128-3140.

Teer, J.K., and Dutta, A. (2008). Human Cdt1 lacking the evolutionarily conserved region that interacts with MCM2-7 is capable of inducing re-replication. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 6817-6825.

Teer, J.K., and Dutta, A. (2006). Regulation of S phase. Results Probl. Cell Differ. 42, 31-63.

Tercero, J.A., Labib, K., and Diffley, J.F. (2000). DNA synthesis at individual replication forks requires the essential initiation factor Cdc45p. EMBO J. 19, 2082-2093.

Todorov, I.T., Werness, B.A., Wang, H.Q., Buddharaju, L.N., Todorova, P.D., Slocum, H.K., Brooks, J.S., and Huberman, J.A. (1998). HsMCM2/BM28: a novel proliferation marker for human tumors and normal tissues. Lab. Invest. 78, 73-78.

Triolo, T., and Sternglanz, R. (1996). Role of interactions between the origin recognition complex and SIR1 in transcriptional silencing. Nature 381, 251-253.

Tsakraklides, V., and Bell, S.P. (2010). Dynamics of pre-replicative complex assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 9437-9443.

Tugal, T., Zou-Yang, X.H., Gavin, K., Pappin, D., Canas, B., Kobayashi, R., Hunt, T., and Stillman, B. (1998). The Orc4p and Orc5p subunits of the Xenopus and human origin recognition complex are related to Orc1p and Cdc6p. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 32421-32429.

von Meyenburg, K., Hansen, F.G., Riise, E., Bergmans, H.E., Meijer, M., and Messer, W. (1979). Origin of replication, oriC, of the Escherichia coli K12 chromosome: genetic mapping and minichromosome replication. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 43 Pt 1, 121-128.

Waga, S., and Stillman, B. (1998). Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 modulates the DNA primer-template recognition complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 4177-4187.

Waga, S., and Zembutsu, A. (2006). Dynamics of DNA binding of replication initiation proteins during de novo formation of pre-replicative complexes in Xenopus egg extracts. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 10926-10934.

Wei, Z., Liu, C., Wu, X., Xu, N., Zhou, B., Liang, C., and Zhu, G. (2010). Characterization and structure determination of the Cdt1 binding domain of human minichromosome maintenance (Mcm) 6. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 12469-12473.

Weinreich, M., and Stillman, B. (1999). Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase binds to chromatin during S phase and is regulated by both the APC and the RAD53 checkpoint pathway. EMBO J. 18, 5334-5346.

Wohlschlegel, J.A., Dwyer, B.T., Dhar, S.K., Cvetic, C., Walter, J.C., and Dutta, A. (2000). Inhibition of eukaryotic DNA replication by geminin binding to Cdt1. Science 290, 2309-2312.

Wolf, D.A., McKeon, F., and Jackson, P.K. (1999). F-box/WD-repeat proteins pop1p and Sud1p/Pop2p form complexes that bind and direct the proteolysis of cdc18p. Curr. Biol. 9, 373-376.

Woodward, A.M., Gohler, T., Luciani, M.G., Oehlmann, M., Ge, X., Gartner, A., Jackson, D.A., and Blow, J.J. (2006). Excess Mcm2-7 license dormant origins of replication that can be used under conditions of replicative stress. J. Cell Biol. 173, 673-683.

Xouri, G., Dimaki, M., Bastiaens, P.I., and Lygerou, Z. (2007). Cdt1 interactions in the licensing process: a model for dynamic spatiotemporal control of licensing. Cell. Cycle 6, 1549-1552.

Yanagi, K., Mizuno, T., You, Z., and Hanaoka, F. (2002). Mouse geminin inhibits not only Cdt1-MCM6 interactions but also a novel intrinsic Cdt1 DNA binding activity. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 40871-40880.

Yanow, S.K., Lygerou, Z., and Nurse, P. (2001). Expression of Cdc18/Cdc6 and Cdt1 during G2 phase induces initiation of DNA replication. EMBO J. 20, 4648-4656.

You, Z., and Masai, H. (2005). DNA binding and helicase actions of mouse MCM4/6/7 helicase. Nucleic Acids Res. 33, 3033-3047.

Zegerman, P., and Diffley, J.F. (2007). Phosphorylation of Sld2 and Sld3 by cyclindependent kinases promotes DNA replication in budding yeast. Nature 445, 281-285.

Zhang, J.J., Zhao, Y., Chait, B.T., Lathem, W.W., Ritzi, M., Knippers, R., and Darnell, J.E., Jr. (1998). Ser727-dependent recruitment of MCM5 by Stat1alpha in IFN-gamma-induced transcriptional activation. EMBO J. 17, 6963-6971.

Zhong, W., Feng, H., Santiago, F.E., and Kipreos, E.T. (2003). CUL-4 ubiquitin ligase maintains genome stability by restraining DNA-replication licensing. Nature 423, 885-889.

Zhou, J., Chau, C., Deng, Z., Stedman, W., and Lieberman, P.M. (2005). Epigenetic control of replication origins. Cell. Cycle 4, 889-892.

Zou, L., and Stillman, B. (2000). Assembly of a complex containing Cdc45p, replication protein A, and Mcm2p at replication origins controlled by S-phase cyclin-dependent kinases and Cdc7p-Dbf4p kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20, 3086-3096.

## Appendix

## A1 - Purification and assessment of ORC

#### A1.1 Purification of the origin recognition complex

My initial project goal was to reconstitute the pre-replicative complex *in vitro* to determine the minimal system requirements for preRC formation. To this end, I needed to purify the origin complex. The origin recognition complex is the core component of the preRC. It binds replication origins and nucleates the assembly of the preRC culminating in the loading of Mcm2-7 onto replication origins. Studies involving ORC have all been based on purifications from baculovirus or yeast cells (Bell and Stillman 1992; Lee and Bell 1997; Klemm and Bell 2001). Due to low yields, prohibitive costs and the potential for post transitional modifications, purification of ORC from *E. coli* would provide a foundation for studying the complex and its role in preRC assembly, where post-translational modifications are undesirable. I set out to purify a recombinant origin recognition complex.

To be able to purify the six ORC proteins, the ORC subunits were cloned into bacterial expression vectors and transformed into *E. coli*. (M.J.D, J. Finkelstein and M. O'Donnell, unpublished) Two of the six subunits, Orc5 and Orc6, contained a polyhistidine tag to facilitate purification of a complex.

The resulting purification was analyzed by gel electrophoresis (Figure 4.1) and the major bands corresponding to the correct sizes of Orc1-6 were further analyzed by

76

mass spectrometry. All six subunits of ORC were present and migrated as expected on SDS-PAGE. Orc4, Orc5 and Orc6 migrate together and due to the percentage of the gel, making the three proteins appear as a single band in certain lanes.



**Figure A.1: Purification of the origin recognition complex.** Coomassie Brilliant Blue stained SDS-PAGE (8%). Indicated on the left is the proteins as identified by mass spectrometry and on the right is the molecular weight marker.

#### A1.2 ORC DNA binding activity

The defining activity of ORC is to bind the origins of replication throughout the genome. ORC binds specifically the ACS with some limited affinity for the B2 region of *ARS1*. I wanted to test whether the DNA binding activity remained intact when the recombinant ORC is purified. To test this I used electrophoresis gel mobility shift assay (EMSA).

The EMSA relies on the protein complex interacting with DNA substrate. An interaction between the protein complex and the DNA substrate is visualized by the shift of the substrate into a slower migrating band. The slower band is indicative of an increased size of the DNA, which is due to the interaction with the protein in question.

The DNA substrate was amplified using a radiolabeled oligonucleotide containing the origin of replication, *ARS1*. A substrate with a deletion of part of the ARS sequence, which is thought to decrease affinity of ORC for DNA was also prepared to use as a control, *ARS1*-A.

Binding of ORC to both substrates was observed as seen by a change in mobility of the radiolabeled DNA fragments. Binding of ORC to wild type *ARS1* containing the complete ACS was about 3-fold better to *ARS1* than *ARS1*-A (Figure 4.2A and B).

Some binding was observed with the *ARS1*-ACS substrate, this however was consistent with published studies (Bell and Stillman 1992; Lee and Bell 1997; Remus et al. 2009).

79



**Figure A.2: Electrophoresis mobility shift assays with ORC and origin DNA substrate.** (A) ORC was incubated with increasing amounts of *ARS1* and *ARS1*-A DNA substrate as indicated in the presence of ATP. The lower band for *ARS1* (>) and *ARS1*-A (<) is protein free DNA. The band indicated by (\*) represents a shift to a slower migrating band indicating an interaction between ORC and the DNA substrate. (B) Quantification of the EMSA.

#### A1.4 References

Bell, S.P., and Stillman, B. (1992). ATP-dependent recognition of eukaryotic origins of DNA replication by a multiprotein complex. Nature *357*, 128-134.

Klemm, R.D., and Bell, S.P. (2001). ATP bound to the origin recognition complex is important for preRC formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 8361-8367.

Lee, D.G., and Bell, S.P. (1997). Architecture of the yeast origin recognition complex bound to origins of DNA replication. Mol. Cell. Biol. *17*, 7159-7168.

Remus, D., Beuron, F., Tolun, G., Griffith, J.D., Morris, E.P., and Diffley, J.F. (2009). Concerted loading of Mcm2-7 double hexamers around DNA during DNA replication origin licensing. Cell *139*, 719-730.

# A2 - Cdt1 purification and antibody characterisation

## A2.1 Cdt1 purification

The purification of Cdt1 was conducted according to the procedure described in Chapter 2. The sample of the load for each column represents the state of the protein following each step of the purification (Figure A.3).



Figure A.3: Cdt1 purification. Each lane represents the protein pooled from the indicated purification step.

#### A2.2 Characterization of the Cdt1- antibody

The Cdt1 antibody was produced by Pacific Immunology Inc. from full length Cdt1 expressed and purified from *E. coli*. The identity of Cdt1 was confirmed by MALDI-MS. Antibodies were raised in New Zealand White rabbits. A pre-production bleed was included to determine whether there was any background Cdt1 binding antibodies in the rabbits (Figure A.4). The binding of sera from rabbits treated with Cdt1 to membranes containing yeast crude extracts, *E. coli* expressing Cdt1, *E. coli* without Cdt1 and purified Cdt1 was examined (Figure A.4). The purified Cdt1 band migrates as expected, directly below the 75 kDa marker (Figure A.4, Cdt1). No Cdt1 is detected in the yeast extract most likely due to the low expression levels of Cdt1 (Figure A.4, YE). In *E. coli* with Cdt1 expression a smear of protein was detected (Figure A.4, Induc.).



**Figure A.4: Characterization of Cdt1 antibody.** Both the preimmune bleed and production bleeds were tested on yeast extract (YE), *E. coli* containing a Cdt1 expression plasmid that was either induced (Induc.) or uninduced (Uniduc.) by the addition of IPTG and on a purified Cdt1.